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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to announce
the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Results

During the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”), the Group
recorded gross proceeds from disposal of securities of
approximately HK$29.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 83.2%, as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$177.7 million for the last year. The Group recorded in revenue
of approximately HK$5.3 million, representing an increase of
approximately 48.1% as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$3.6 million for the last year. The Company recorded loss
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year amounted
to approximately HK$37.8 million (2023: approximately HK$41.2
million). The audited consolidated net assets of the Group as
at 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately HK$158.9 million
(2023: approximately HK$196.6 million). The net asset per share
of the Group was amounted to approximately HK$0.39 (2023:
approximately HK$0.48). The decrease in net asset value per share
of the Company over the year was principally resulted from the net
loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company for the Year
of approximately HK$37.8 million.

The Group’s net loss decreased from approximately HK$41.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately
HK$37.8 million for the Year. Such change is mainly attributable to
the net effect of the increase in interest income from approximately
HK$3.5 million for last year to approximately HK$5.1 million for the
Year, the change in performance of the Group’s listed investments
and the expected credit loss assessment. The Group recorded net
loss on listed investments of approximately HK$30.7 million in the
last year, while net loss on listed investments of approximately
HK$32.2 million was recorded in the Year. In relation to the
expected credit loss assessment, the Group recorded impairment
loss of approximately HK$2.7 million during the Year while the
corresponding amount recorded in the last year was approximately
HK$1.2 million. The decrease in administrative expenses from
approximately HK$9.9 million in last year to approximately HK$7.1
million in the Year and the unrealised loss on unlisted investments
decreased from approximately HK$2.4 million for last year to
HK$0.3 million for the Year also led to the decrease in overall net
loss of the Group for the Year.

TEEBESEARAR (AR REKE AR
(R IAEEDE=(E5)g([EFg)RAR
HAERERBE_T _HNF=ZA=1T—"BLEFEZL
EREAEE-

EEENRRON

Mg EE
HEZT-_MFE=A=+—RHLEFE([AFE]) &
S E &GN EF S FTS KIE 4% 429,800,000/ 7T -
B X F#177,700,00078 7T 5 L 4983.2% - NE B ER 1S
I %5 495,300,0007% 7T + 82 & £F 493,600,0007% 7T 1 A1
HA81% - M AFE  NABEBEARRI A AN
& 8 £937,800,000/8 7T ( —F — = 4 : £941,200,000
BIL) AEBR-_T-_MEZA=-+ - HOEERK
A A EFENH158,900,0008 T (T - =F:4
196,600,000 7T, ) - N & B G I & & F E 4 £0.3948
T(ZEZ=F #0488 L) - RAFE AR FZK
BEFERVEBEAAEARAAREEEAFTE FEIE
#737,800,000/8 7T °

AEEEEERBEE S =-A=+—HILtEE
#)41,200,0007% 7T 7 > &= A £ [€ £37,800,000% 7T
ZEEHFEERERF S WA B EF43,500,000/8 T
MZEARFE 5,100,000 T R AEB FMREXRE R
BHEEERIMZEH 2 EFLE - AEEARAFH
B LW EF 18 430,700,00058 7T - 1M A 2K 4F 5 8%
1§ E TR B F 518 4932,200,0008 7T St B HE E 6
BRHEN 5 - AEER AT 85 REEE42,700,000
BT E— EF E 815 A ME FE £ 884 51,200,00078
JC° 1B 2 A & 4F 499,900,000 TR D E A FEH
7,100,000 70 AR IE EMIEE MR FEREIBREF
#)2,400,0007% 7T 5 > & 25 4F [£.300,0005%5 7T + 1 8 B
AEEBRFEREFBHERD -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Investment Review
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s major investments were as

REDE
RIZB_ME=ZA=+—H FAEEZFT2RENT:

follows:

Investments Description

RE Bt

Listed equities HK$104.2 million of a portfolio of listed shares in 49 companies
R 49 A Az E AR 1) 455 104,200,0007% 7T

Direct investment in unlisted equities HK$6.3 million in 2 direct investments in unlisted equities securities
MIELTHRAZBEERE 218 F IR ANRE 5 2 B % £6,300,0007%8 7T

Debt Investments HK$44.8 million in bonds issued by 2 listed companies and 1 unlisted company
BRRE 2fA £ AR R ARFE B AR #E 1T 2 55544,800,000%8 7T

Total HK$155.3 million

A&t 155,300,000/ 7T

The investment portfolio as at 31 March 2024 of the Group mainly
comprises of unlisted securities, listed securities and bonds
investment in Hong Kong and China. The value of investment
portfolio of the Group is of approximately HK$155.3 million.
As a whole, the portfolio was carefully managed and being
fully diversified to minimise commercial risk resulting from over
concentration of the investment of the Group in any single industry.

RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H AEEREHEETEH
ERERPEELTES LTMEFREFREAN -
REEZIREHE BEH B155,300,000% T - AT
S REMGEEEEREYERASZ LI BERE
AEBBAERPRENEWE —TEMAREZHE
2 Bz o
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Significant Investments

The Group’s investments with fair value over 5% of value of its
total assets are considered as significant investments. In respect
of the Group’s significant investments as at 31 March 2024, set out
below are certain information on those investments:

EXRE
ARFEHEEEEEBB % 2ASEREWRA/E
ABRE-RAEBR T -_MF=A=+—HZEK
BREMS ZEREZETEREIWT:

Significant Investments

EXRE

Equity investment in WLS Holdings Limited
RERERBERRAZRARE

Equity investment in Minerva Group Holding Limited

REREZRERAEZRARE

Bonds investment in Hao Wen Holdings Limited
REXERERRAZEFRE

Bonds investment in China 33 Media Group Limited
ROE==EREEERAAZESFRE

Bonds investment in Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited

REWERERRAZEFRE

Fair value/Carrying
value of significant
investments as at
31 March 2024

R-E-Mm%F
=ZB=1-H
BEAREZ

AVE/REE
HK$' million
BEATL

13.2

15.6

172

16.7

Percentage of fair
value of significant
investments to the

Realised

Company'’s total gain/(loss) recognised
assets as at during the year ended

31 March 2024
R=2=m#
=ZA=t+-H

EXRERZ
DAL
KARBEE
BN

7.8%

9.3%

10.2%

7.1%

9.3%

31 March 2024

Unrealised

gain/(loss) recognised
during the year ended

31 March 2024

Bond coupons
received during the
year ended

31 March 2024

REZ REZ REZ

ZECmE ZECmE ZECmE
ZB=1-"H ZB=1-"H ZR=1-"H
LEERAZ LEERAZ EEERRmZ
BERKE/ (BB REEWE/ (FR) BHER
HK$' million HK$' million HK$’ million
BEAT BEBL BEBTL

(0.1) (22.4) NIA TiE

- (35) NIA T

_ - 1.1
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
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(A) Listed Equity Investments (A) LHRARE

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS’, stock code: 8021)

WLS is principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding
and fitting out services and other auxiliary services for
construction and buildings work, and money lending business.
The audited consolidated loss attributable to shareholders
of WLS for the year ended 30 April 2023 was approximately
HK$112.4 million.

As stated in the WLS’ interim report 2023/24, looking forward,
Hong Kong’s economy will likely grow more slowly than
previously expected both in 2023 and 2024 as challenges
from uncertainty of China’s economy and the impact of
high interest rates. It also led to a decline in the Hong Kong
property market.

In the past decade, the scaffolding industry has become
increasingly competitive. Furthermore, the costs have become
high together with rising labour costs, but productivity has
suffered decline as well. In the face of a phenomenon
of ageing workers, young generation unwilling to join the
industry due to hard labour work and higher requirement of
technological qualifications, which has affected recruitment
of talents in the industry, and with heavier government
regulations, without favourable factors such as labour imports,
the carrying capacity of the industry may be challenged.
These reflect a lack of confidence in the prospect of the
scaffolding industry.

On the other hand, in response to demand from market
development, many contractors have adopted the use of
metal scaffolds instead of bamboo scaffolds nowadays. The
general higher durability of metal scaffolds and the possibility
of calculating load bearing capacity have shortened the time
for training of workers. Hence, bamboo scaffolds may be
eliminated in Hong Kong in the future. According to recent
trend, modern metal scaffolds have been adopted by the
industry, especially for high-end shopping malls which are
aware of exterior appearance. Therefore, the future direction
of the scaffolding business will be led by the adoption of
mixed scaffolds and metal scaffolds.

EEPERRFR 2 E] ([EE] - R17 L5 - 8021)
EREETZNFREMELRZEREERS U R A
HOEERBFIRRBEEAREES REE=
TZ=FNA=ZTRHIEFE EREZRFEEMLK
TR A B 184 5112,400,0007% 7T

WIVERN — T - =F 52 T _MFERERER
HOREARAR BARPEELENTEEENSF
FNFEMTRNOUB BELER_FT_=F
R-—E_MENERBEHEA RN ERES -
HAREHEEMET IS TR -

EBETF BMEFREFEAE A 1IN ATK
AAE Lk - KASS BEENTBHR TR -B
HEHTALRZRERAR FE-—RBFSH
BRMERGMERLAT FETEATOHRE
MEBRMRBYRES REZBAINEEFNE
RTEABENBEAZER UMRKRHEE
MERMSEERZED

S—hE HETSERFR - ASHAZEER
ERBEBWMARENNR B MREEM
AR EAFEAEN JIRS THEEE
Bt RERATHZRE T B A AT LR A - R BT
g% RONEBMRCKAERNRA 27
LHEIENENS KBS A REWEE
BEBERABZARCMARBHMRALTE -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Due to the current unclear economic situation in Hong Kong,
WLS is reviewing its existing assets structure and business
strategies and may make adjustment to its existing assets
structure, with the aim to consolidate their resources, so as
to be flexibly prepared for uncertainties in the future. WLS
will strictly adhere to its cost control policy, and swiftly adjust
business strategies of its scaffolding business in response to
ever-changing market dynamics in order to generate better

financial returns for shareholders.

Finally, WLS will actively explore all suitable investment
opportunities to diversify its business horizons and will work
hard to strengthen overall business development. WLS
business strategy is in line with the general direction of the
government’s overall strategic development plans for property
construction, infrastructure investment and financial market

development.

The management of the Company shares the same
viewpoints of WLS and believes its business in construction
and infrastructure sectors are in line with the development
plan of Hong Kong Government and will bring positive return
to the Company in long run, but the Group will still continue
to monitor the performance of WLS and adjust the Group’s

strategy of investment in WLS, if necessary.

Minerva Group Holding Limited (“Minerva’, stock code: 397)

Minerva is principally engaged in business of financial
services, asset management and investment and money
lending. For the financial year ended 31 December 2023,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of

Minerva was approximately HK$104.1 million.

Minerva stated in its annual report 2023 that the Year 2023
proved to be a dynamic and challenging business landscape.
Minerva has witnessed significant milestones and events
that had a profound impact on the global and Hong Kong
economies. Notably, it experienced the complete removal of
restrictions on social distancing and most health and epidemic
prevention policies in Hong Kong as well as the full removal
of immigration controls with Mainland China in early January
2023. These developments fostered a more conducive
business environment, and the market expects a robust
rebound through cross-border collaboration and economic

growth.

HRERMEERBETE TR EREERSR
REEEBREBRE YAEHERAKEELRE
ETHENZBEEER (M BEE R RKAE
BB BA B X - E R AR AR 8 ST A AN IR R
Wi R A MRS R R RIS RS LY &
ABRNMSEE SRR EKE S P KO-

KR EESEREBRR —VEENKRERKS:
EHENEBHBEZ T SHEDEBOERE
R-EENEBRBETABRNENEEZR &2
BRERERMM SRR ABRERBERMRENEG
BIEET -

ARREEERERFERREH RAENE
EREMRBITENEBTETERTNERR
EEREMEAAARRGRILEEER EARAE
BEEBERIERENRR YRMBERERFHER
& EHR A ERE B 50 -

REEEFEREGR A ([FEE] R RHK:
397)

BEBCZIZEBACRRE EEEERKE
LERE REBEE_Z_=F+-_A=+—81t
BRFE RERZRIEGLEEREEAEEY
/104,100,000 JT °

BEBRE T _-—FFRHDPEL - FEER"
—EOCHFEMNRERBEMSE AT
BEERETHERLBELEAAREZED
EEBERMEEMH-ERIENE BREEKE
TEEZEBUBMRZIERR I R ARMY HERE
BE - AERR-ZZE - =F— A2 HEUH &EH
ABHBAREH - ELBERZEREANNE
BRE FHmSEERERAEREELERE
BRI 58 o



However, the global market has also encountered several
new challenges, including U.S. Federal Reserve’s interest
rate hike, the bank crisis in U.S., a global economic slowdown
and a sharp downturn in the property sector in China’s
economy. Additionally, the Hong Kong Government revised
its economic growth forecast for Hong Kong, lowering it to
3.2% from the previous estimate of 4% to 5%. In response
to these challenges, Minerva closely monitored the situation
and implemented prudent risk management strategies to
safeguard their operations and investments. Minerva also
reassessed its financial strategies and adapted to the
changing interest rate environment, mitigating potential
impacts on its operations and investments, and demonstrating

their resilience.

During Year 2023, Minerva recorded net loss, primarily driven
by the significant loss arising from the market performance of
listed equity investments in the Hong Kong stock market. This
loss aligns with the trend observed in the Hong Kong stock
market, where the Hang Seng Index experienced a decline
of 13.8% in 2023. Despite these challenges in the financial
market, Minerva managed to mitigate its losses compared to
the previous year. Aside from the losses incurred due to listed
equity investments in the Hong Kong stock market, Minerva
has showcased resilience by generating stable returns and
experiencing modest growth in its money lending and financial
services operations. These sectors have proven to be sources
of stability and have contributed positively to Minerva’s
overall performance. By diversifying its business activities and
capitalizing on opportunities within these segments, Minerva
has effectively mitigated some of the challenges faced in the
volatile stock market.

As Minerva turn its gaze towards the horizon of 2024, it
hold steadfast in its optimistic outlook for the Hong Kong
economy and the global economic market. They anticipate a
gradual recovery as the global economy finds their footing
and achieves stability. Moreover, Minerva acknowledge the
potential for the US Federal Reserve to maintain a steady
hand and potentially even reduce interest rates during the
course of the year, offering a much-needed boost to the
ongoing revitalization efforts. Minerva remain vigilant in
monitoring ongoing macro and geopolitical uncertainties that
have the potential to impact its operations and investments.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
EEEREE
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The management of the Company believes Minerva will be
able to spur its revenue growth and create more value, but
the Group will still continue to monitor the performance of
Minerva and adjust the Group’s strategy of investment in

Minerva, if necessary.

(B) Unlisted Debt Investments

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (“Hao Wen”)

Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. Hao Wen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the money lending business and processing and
trading of electronic parts. It is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8019). The audited net assets and
current assets of Hao Wen were approximately RMB292.7
million and RMB211.6 million respectively and its total
liabilities were approximately RMB85.9 million as at 31
December 2023. The Company considers that Hao Wen has
sufficient financial resources to meets its ongoing operation,
and there is no signal of default of the HW Bonds.

China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33”)

China 33 is a company incorporated in Cayman lIslands
with limited liability. China 33 and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in outdoor and digital advertising, film and
entertainment investment, and transaction services for prepaid
cards. It is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8087).

Based on China 33’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2023, its net asset value was approximately
RMB34.4 million, its current assets were approximately
RMB263.2 million and total liabilities were approximately
RMB239.0 million. In view of China 33’s strong liquid assets
and limited liabilities, the Company considers that China
33 has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing
operation, there is no signal of default of bonds issued by
China 33 to the Group.

Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold Medal”)

Gold Medal is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability. Gold Medal is a licensed money lender in Hong
Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and which is operated by an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of WLS. The bonds issued by Gold
Medal is guaranteed by WLS.

(B)

ARAREREREREBKENRNBEBAER
TR EFEZEE EASESERMIREEN
R YR BERERFHEREEREREENR
B o

HLETEBERE

BXHERER LA ([H#X)

N A —HRRERSEMK I ZBERAA-
X REMNBAREEZREREEBURMT
LEBSTHM ENBXAGEM £ (BRHKR
5%:8019) AT -_=F+_A=+—H #X
WEEZEEFERRDEES A ADARE
292,700,0007T 2 A R #211,600,0007C A & H &
BELARE A AR #85,900,0007T « & A 7 8 & i
NAERRUBERBRERBLE HXESH
WEBHISR -

HE = = FREBER LA ([FE==])
FE==A—BRHEEFSEMRIZBR AR -
FE-Z=REMBRAREEREFINRBFTRES
EYRIRBREANRBN R DR - HRE L
FTGEM £ (A& 15 5% : 8087) °

BREFBH==HEZ_FT=_=F+=A=+—
BIEFEZFERE HEEFENAARE
34,400,0007T ' 7t 8) & E 4 & A K #263,200,000
JL mBEBEL A ARE239,000,0007T © R
PFE=Z="RBENTDEERERER ARAR
RPABE=Z=ZFAARNUBERBCEFELE
FE=ZZBTTAEEZBHFTEENDR -

EREEFRRA([2#))
CER—HAREBEMALNERAF -2HR
RIEEBEDIF163F MEA G 2 BB K
BEAMBERZ -—HEAXZENBRARZEE -
BBETZEFHERRHER-
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Based on WLS’ interim report for the six months ended
31 October 2023, its net asset value was approximately
HK$383.9 million, its current assets were approximately
HK$565.6 million and total liabilities were approximately
HK$194.0 million. In view of the guarantor, WLS’ strong liquid
assets and limited liabilities, the Company considers that Gold
Medal has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing
operation, there is no signal of default of bonds issued by
Gold Medal to the Group.

Performance of the Group’s Listed Securities

The loss on listed investments of approximately HK$32.2 million
for the Year represented net unrealised gain of listed securities
of approximately HK$13.2 million and dividend received of
approximately HK$0.3 million, net of net realised loss on disposal
of listed securities of approximately HK$45.7 million. Set out
below are further information of these net realised loss and net
unrealised gain:

Net Realised Loss on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised loss on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$45.7 million represented the realised gain of
approximately HK$5.7 million net of realised loss of approximately
HK$51.4 million.

The realised gain of approximately HK$5.7 million principally
represented:

Company name

NEEB

CBK Holdings Limited
BB R A F

China New Consumption Group Limited

TEEERBEARAR

In addition to the above 2 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought realised gain over HK$1.0 million to the Group during the
Year.

REERBEEZE-_ZT-_=F+A=+—HI<MAA
2R H RS H B EFE 4 5383,900,0007% 7T
BN E E#) /5565,600,000/8 7T M B E AL A
194,000,000/ 7T ERER A CERE) BENR
HEERBEBER ARARAESBERRUE
BRmMEERELCYE SRBOTTAEEZES
WHEBHIR -

FrEFLTHEFZEKE

RNEF ETIREEE%32,200,000/8 L8 £ T & FH
2 K 3R U 25 0% 56 4913,200,00058 7T & B WAL B 4
300,000 THIRHEE EMESF 2B REEFED
45,700,000 T - AN EEHREBFERRER
W FREMEZEREHINT

HHE FTTERZ O SRS FE

& LM S 2 B #3858 ¥ 5 445,700,000% 7T
BB IR U2 495,700,0008 THBREZREELY
51,400,000/% T °

438 Ui %5 495,700,000/8 T = E45 ¢

Stock code Realised gain
IR 1 5% [EF -0 ¢
HK$ million

BEBT

8428 2.6
8275 2.6

[ = e N N Sy = = =l = o N S
28438 Lz #8348 1,000,000 7T ©
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The realised loss of approximately HK$51.4 million principally

represented:

Company name

DR BB

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited
TEEEXNEEERA

China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited
ThEAEEFERAA

Asia Grocery Distribution Limited

TNEREEERERAR

Kingland Group HoIdings Limited
SHEBERERR

In addition to the above 4 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought realised loss over HK$1.0 million to the Group during the
Year.

Net Unrealised Gain of Listed Securities

The net unrealised gain of approximately HK$13.2 million
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$57.1 million
net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$43.9 million.

The unrealised gain of approximately HK$57.1 million principally
represented:

Company name

DR BB

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited
TREAXNERBRA

China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited
TAEREBEBR AT

China Jicheng Holdings Limited
MESERERABRA
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In addition to the above 3 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought unrealised gain over HK$3.0 million to the Group during
the Year.

The unrealised loss of approximately HK$43.9 million principally
represented:

Company name

DR BB

WLS Holdings Limited
EEERABRA

Minerva Group HoIding Limited
SEERBRRA

Wealth Glory HoIdings Limited
EEERARRA

In addition to above 3 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought unrealised loss over HK$2.0 million to the Group during
the Year.

Note:

(1) The shares of all the companies mentioned under Performance of the
Group’s Listed Securities were listed on either Main Board or GEM of
the Stock Exchange.

Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Securities

The Group did not dispose of any of its unlisted equity investment,
and no realised gain/loss was recorded during the Year. Unrealised
loss of approximately HK$0.3 million was recognised during the
Year.

Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Debt Investments
During the Year, the Group subscribed bonds issued by Gold Medal
Hong Kong Limited, a subsidiary of WLS Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8021), with principal of HK$18 million (“GM Bonds”). The
maturity date of GM Bonds is 9 July 2025 and the coupon rate is
8.0%. In addition to subscription of GM Bonds, the Group did not
acquire or dispose of any debt investments during the Year.
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Prospects

We expect the global market will continue to face greater
challenges and full of uncertainty especially in the era of high
inflation. Both developed and developing economies are facing
challenge of recession. China was also facing a slowdown in
economic growth, but its situation seems not as poor as that of
the West. The inflation in China is much less than that in the West.
When the world is facing such great uncertainty, the Directors
consider, crisis and opportunities coexist in the coming year.

The Directors will continue to take a prudent approach in
managing the Group’s investment portfolio and develop the
investment strategies. Given the increasing influence of China
against the global economy, the Group will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities which offer outstanding returns under the acceptable
risk in the portfolio of the Group.

The Company would consider investing in certain unlisted
securities, listed securities and fixed income products with high
potential in order to diversify further market risk.

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final
dividend.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had amounts due to brokers
(including margin payables to financial institutions) of
approximately HK$6.2 million (2023: approximately HK$5.0 million).
The Group had bank balances and cash on hand of approximately
HK$7.1 million (2023: approximately HK$27.6 million), which was
mainly placed in bank and other financial institutions as deposits.
As the Group held listed securities of approximately HK$104.2
million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$132.5
million), which is around 16.8 times (2023: approximately 26.5
times) of the amounts due to brokers, the Board consider the
Company’s liquidity position is still healthy as at 31 March 2024.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/total
equity) was 3.9% (2023: 2.6%), which was considered a very low
leverage level by the Board.

Al &
BHMEHERTESEERREAIBETHERT
BMEM LERERSBRKH HERERPLER
B R E R AP E - FIE > o Bt e A SR
W& BEBERUFEFRTET - PENBERRE
EERAS -EEREHROMERTHELS EF
B RETEEERBY TN —F-

EEK—WNE BEREEAEEZREBS LHE
BRERB - ENPREE2REBENZEBRIE N K
SEDRIEYRNTELE #ECAKEKER
BUERXNEAREEASREMEHREECORNIKE
s -

ARREEBERENREGETAEBERNED
EHESFREERRER  BIE—FT DR

I’ E
EESFRTEBIRN KBRS -

REBESRMBEER

R-ZE-_WMF=ZA=Z+—A AEEENELKE
(RIEEMNESRBERES)4/456,200,0008 7T (ZF
Z =4 :495,000,00087T) - AEE ZRITER K TFE
4 #7/47,100,0005 7T ( — T — = 4 : £J27,600,000
BL) EBARTKEMSBEBER -R_ZE=-0
F=ZA=+—H XEEFE LT&E%%104,200,000
BT (ZF = =4 :49132,500,0007% 7T ) * AR &L
HIEHX16.815 (- T — =4 :426.5f%) HE=
ERAN-_Z-_NEZA=+—HAQRANRSES
AR SAT) BB 2 B -

EESEBLE
EEABLEER(TEATEABRE HBER) B3.9%
(ZEZ=F:26%) EZTCRAZBREBTHEER
Ko



Annual R rt
2023/24 @ ;p"#&

STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Capital Structure

The consolidated net asset value per share of the Company as
at 31 March 2024 was HK$0.39 (2023: audited HK$0.48). The
consolidated net asset value per share is calculated based on the
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2024 of approximately
HK$158.9 million (2023: approximately HK$196.6 million) and
the total number of 412,596,600 shares ordinary shares of the
Company at par value of HK$0.001 each (2023: 412,596,600
ordinary shares of the Company at par value of HK$0.001 each) in
issue as at that date.

The Group did not have run any capital exercise during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company does not have
any significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures.

Employees

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had retained
eleven employees (2023: eleven employees). Total staff costs
of the Group, excluding directors’ remuneration, for the year
under review amounted to approximately HK$0.7 million (2023:
approximately HK$4.2 million). Significant decrease in staff costs
is because the last year’s balance included share-based payment
of approximately HK$3.5 million. No share option was granted
during the Year and no share-based payment was recognized
accordingly. Staff remuneration packages were in line with the
prevailing market practice and were determined on the basis of the
performance and experience of individual employee.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has pledged listed securities
of approximately HK$9.1 million (2023: approximately HK$18.2
million) to secure the margin payables of approximately HK$5.3
million (2023: approximately HK$5.0 million). The Group did not
have significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.
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Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year

As at 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report
approved, the Company does not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises from
its investments in companies located in the People’s Republic
of China, which are financed internally. In order to mitigate the
potential impact of currency fluctuations, the Group closely
monitors its foreign currency exposures and will use suitable
hedging instruments against significant foreign currency exposures,
where necessary. No foreign currency hedge contract was entered
into by the Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
had no outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2023: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES
For the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, with deviations from
Provisions C.2.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024, including the accounting principles and accounting practices
adopted by the Company, and discussed matters relating to
auditing, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting, the
adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon

and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin.

By Order of the Board
China Investment and Finance Group Limited

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 60, was appointed as
an executive Director on 8 March 2011. Mr. Chan is one of the
representatives of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited
and a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”). Mr. Chan obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business
Administration of the University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities,
fund management, corporate management, corporate finance and
managing listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chan is currently executive director of each of China
Innovation Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), Capital Realm
Financial Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 204), Capital VC
Limited (stock code: 2324), China New Economy Fund Limited
(stock code: 80), and Goldstone Investment Group Limited (stock
code: 901), and a non-executive director of China Trends Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8171). All these companies are listed on either
the main board or GEM of the Stock Exchange. Since November
2018, Mr. Chan has been appointed as an executive director of
National Investments Fund Limited (“NIFL’), which was listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The listing of NIFL's shares
has been cancelled with effect from 20 September 2022.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Qi (“Mr. Wu”), aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 July 2015. He is a famous securities analyst in China.
He has many years’ solid experience in the financial industries.
He has often been interviewed by many Chinese media and has
been invited by a number of financial programs as a guest. He is
also a financial columnist of sina.com, yicai.com and other famous
websites. Mr. Wu specializes in the stock market analysis and his
choice of stocks also has outstanding insights.

Mr. FONG On Shek, aged 79, was appointed as an independent

non-executive Director on 19 July 2017. He has over 20 years’

solid experience in senior management positions in various
industries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUK Simon (“Mr. Luk”), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2014. He is a
responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance since 2003.
Mr. Luk has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies.

Since September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of
Zhanlin Securities Limited. During the period from November 2016
to September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of Thoth
Investment Management Limited. During the periods from July
2014 to November 2016 and from February 2011 to November
2013, Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of W. Falcon Asset
Management (Asia) Limited and Capital Focus Asset Management
Limited respectively. Before that, Mr. Luk was a founder and
responsible officer of Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period
of 2000 to 2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity
portfolios. Mr. Luk was currently an independent non-executive
director of Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 640), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, and he was
an independent non-executive director of Link Holdings Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8237),
from November 2021 to July 2023.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. She is currently the
assistant to the general manager of a China based investment
company. She has over 5 years solid investment and management
experience.

Mr. HON Leung (“Mr. Hon"), aged 41, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 November 2015. He is
the founder of William Hon & Co, and a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong, with over 10 years of professional
practice experience. He possess solid finance and accounting
knowledge. Mr. Hon is currently an independent non-executive
director of FY Financial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8452), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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The Board presents their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of subsidiaries are securities trading and
investment holding.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
turnover and results were mainly derived from the interest income
and dividend income from investment holding. The directors
consider that these activities constitute one and the only business
segment since these transactions are subject to common risks
and returns. The management monitors the operating results of
its business for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Given the nature of
the Group’s operation is investment holding, it is not considered
meaningful to provide a business segment analysis of operating
losses. Details of the segment information are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s operation is investment holding, there was
no information regarding major customers and suppliers as
determined by the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 90, 91-92 and 166,
respectively. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Group during the
year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme of the Company was approved and adopted
by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general meeting held on
29 August 2013 (the “Option Scheme”), unless otherwise cancelled
or amended subject to resolution passed at general meeting of the
Company the Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years from
29 August 2013. The Option Scheme has expired during the year
ended 31 March 2024. No new share option scheme was approved
and adopted by the Company up to the date of this report.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provided incentive or
reward to Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employees of the Group (including any directors,
whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any Subsidiary) and any distributor,
contractor, business partner, promoter, service provider, customer,
supplier, consultant, agent and adviser or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group eligible for Options under the Option Scheme.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each Participant under the Option Scheme (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company
subject to options granted during such period under any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue for any time being.
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Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or substantive
shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, or any of their respective associates under the Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors or shareholders of the
Company as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant shall not (i) exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue on the date of such grant;
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be accepted
by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-one days
from the date of such offer or such shorter period as the Board
may from time to time determine. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s TERZINARBRAFEERN ZBERES S -
share options during the year:
Number
Number Number of options Number of
Number of  of options of options cancelled/ options held
options held granted exercised lapsed as at
Exercise asat  duringthe  during the  during the 31 March
Category Date of Grant Price  Option Period 1 April 2023 Year Year Year 2024
R=-B-=& R-E-m&E
mA-H FRE#/ =ZA=t+-8
fis EFRRitiz FRTEZ kB2 fis
5 BERH fiEE BRESD BREHE HBRERE BREKE BREHE BREXS
Directors
=
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee 11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
REZEE —Z--%\At+-H 04218  RHRHEH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
“Z--FNATZH 031781 RUAHRH=F
Mr. FONG On Shek 11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
FRARE “Z--£\At+-H 0421 HmAHEH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
“E--F7\A+Z=H 0317871 REBHRH=F
Employees 11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 20,300,000 - - - 20,300,000
] —Z_-f)\At+-H 04208  ERHRAHEH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant 26,000,000 - - - 26,000,000
“2--#/\At+ZH 03178 RHAHEH=F
Total
At 59,300,000 - - - 59,300,000

The exercise period of all the above options are three years
from the date fo grant, and all these options are with immediate
vesting period. The number of options available for grant under
the scheme mandate as at 1 April 2023 is 9,660 options, and there
was no option available for grant as at 31 March 2024, as the
Option Scheme has expired.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 93-94 of this report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. The Articles
of Association provide that an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company is required for any distribution out of
the share premium account. The Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprise the share premium and accumulated profits.
In the opinion of the Board, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to the shareholders at 31 March 2024 were
approximately HK$35,030,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
January 2019. The Company endeavours to maintain adequate
working capital to develop and operate the business of the Group
and to provide stable and sustainable return to the shareholders of
the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans
of the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual
restrictions on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory
restrictions which the Group is subject to from time to time and any
other relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends
may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

CIRES 34
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The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WU Qi
Mr. FONG On Shek

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung shall retire
by rotation. All retiring Directors being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiary
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) when this report prepared by the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTIONS” in this directors’ report
and 2,250,000 shares of the Company held by each of Mr. CHAN
Cheong Yee and Mr. FONG On Shek, as at 31 March 2024, none
of the directors and the chief executives of the Company had or
were deemed to have any Disclosable Interests or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO)), or which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for securities
transactions by Directors of listed companies contained in the
Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had not been notified of any person (other than
directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March
2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance Code
(“Code”) as set out in C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) throughout the
year ended 31 March 2024, with deviations from Provisions C.2.1
of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Company’s
directors or members of its management to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are subject to review and
recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee and
then fixed by the Board with the authorisation of the shareholders
at a general meeting.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Company has complied
with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF

SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Group nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair Review of the Company’s Business and Likely
Future Development

Please refer to “Statement from the Management” in this annual
report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
the Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-
corruption practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty,
integrity and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by
all employees of the Group at all times. As such, it is the Group’s
policy that employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any
advantage for themselves or others, from any person, company or
organisations having business dealings with the Group.

Company’s Key Relationships with its Employees

We consider our employees an important asset of the Company.
We strive to provide a fair and respectful working environment to
our employees.

In selecting our employees and board members, the Company
considers the experience, knowledge and background of the
individual that can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the
Company.

We encourage the staff to take seminars and other activities
related to the Company’s business. We adopt a five-day workweek
and encourage our employees to have a good balance among
health, work and social or family activities.

Community Involvement and Contribution

The Company pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the local communities. We supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to participate in
volunteer work.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
on pages 21 to 23 and note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Group’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to the existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Details of the five years financial summary in relation to the
Group’s results and assets and liabilities are set out in page 168.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited retires, and being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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The Company recognises that good corporate governance
standards maintained throughout the Group serve as an effective
risk management tool for the Company. The board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to lead the Group growing
in an efficient manner followed by corporate missions in terms
of business strategies and improved operational planning and
procedures which are enforced under high corporate governance
standard.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance Code
(“Code”) as set out in C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) throughout the
year ended 31 March 2024, with deviations from Provisions C.2.1
of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Group. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Group confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of the Group is collectively responsible for overseeing
the management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing shareholders value. The Board
comprises a total of six Directors, with one executive Director,
two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2024. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. HON Leung, has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting pursuant to Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Group is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. All
Directors have access to the company secretary for advice on the
board procedures and regulatory matters. Any Director may take
independent professional advice if they so wish at the expense of
the Group, as arranged by the company secretary.

Function

In view of the simple structure of the Group, all significant decision
making is carried out by the executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board while the day-to-day investment decision is based on
the professional recommendation of the investment manager.

Directors’ Training

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
company secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.
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Pursuant to Code C.1.4, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March
2024, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board and the Board always acts in the best interests of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board convened
a total of thirteen meetings. Included in one meeting was a session
held among the non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) only. The Directors can attend meetings
in persons or through other means of electronic communication
in accordance with the articles of association of the Group. The
number of Board meetings attended by each Director during the
year ended 31 March 2024 is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the
period in which the individual was a Director.

RETUNECIAF EFTH2EFEFTXHRANE
FR N ST EL AN R A B A T RE AR 1R S AR A 1E AR BE
MRATHEESHRELER - RBEE T _N¥=H
ST HLEFE 2BEFCEBSMBARREH
REEZRERETHEBZEIRZREERBEYE
SETEEZRHEBEEERREY-

EREFH2NEBRAZEZTSEH MEFSHK
NFeaAEERENEZIRTE-REE-_T-M
FZAZtTHLEEE EFgdRaT=ZREeR"
BR-RERFVTES (BRBELIFATEF) )RR
THEHR-REAEBEZEMEREZA EFTRY
FNEMEFBRASALFER - SEERBE_Z

TME=ZA=Z+-HILFELRESSSE ZREH
RIR-ERABRFRRENEEXNEEESTHEM
BUOREZIRZREC

Attendance
Name of Directors BEEER IR E
Executive Director BITES
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee PREZE A 13/(13)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. WU Qi RS E 13/(13)
Mr. FONG On Shek AL E 13/(13)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFBTES
Mr. LUK Simon PR 254 13/(13)
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin = e 13/(13)
Mr. HON Leung Bt 13/(13)

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business
or family relationship among the members of the Board as at
31 March 2024. All of them are free to exercise their individual
judgments.

BEFEMM R_ZE-_NF=A=+—H EFg
KREBBENE XHARKBR - KEHUELE
STF e
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Ka Yin was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company in August 2017. He reports to the executive Director
of the Company and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. He has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2024.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for determining the
remuneration of the Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON
Leung. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the committee held
one meeting to discuss remuneration related matters. The number
of meetings attended by each committee member during the year
ended 31 March 2024 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period
in which the individual was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin B 2+
Mr. LUK Simon PER 254
Mr. HON Leung Bkt

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee is responsible for the following
functions: determining the policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, assessing performance of executive directors,
and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts.
The remuneration committee has to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. No director or any of his/her
associated director, and chief executive is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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Attendance

HERE

1/(1)
1/(1)
1/(1)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was set up in March 2024. The
members of the nomination committee are Ms. LIU Xiaoyin,
Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung. Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, is the
chairman of the nomination committee. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the committee held one meeting to discuss
nomination related matters. The number of meetings attended by
each committee member during the year ended 31 March 2024
is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates the
maximum number of meetings in the period in which the individual
was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2L+
Mr. HON Leung Bk
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 A

The primary function of the nomination committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy.

Procedure and Process for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of Director(s) including independent non-executive
Director(s) in accordance with the following procedures and
process:

i. The nomination committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list
of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset
to focus the search effort;

REZEE®

REZEEN T _NF=AKIL -RELZEEKE
PRIABEZT ERE2AEERBRAE-ZBEREL
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Attendance

IR

1/(1)
1/(1)
1/(1)

REZBEEIZBEREFRIEFTGEB RER
M AR EFEREEMEZENDABMAEAKED
E i

REESNEFRR

REZEEBBREBEUATEFRAENESSEHE TS

E=(BREBYIFNTES):

. RERZEEH %E%%%%@Eﬁﬂﬁ@iﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁ’
BANE-—DEENRE BHREREE
SRBENETHETE:

35



36

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

B OB '

£ B & R 24 #

2

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARRE

The nomination committee may consult any source it
considers appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party agency firm
and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(a) Diversity in the aspects, amongst others, of gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time and relevant interest;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries in which the Group’s business
is involved;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board; and

(g9) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The nomination committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third party reference checks;

The nomination committee will consider a broad range of
candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of
contacts;
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Vi.

vii.

viii.

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the

recommendation to the Board for appointment;

The nomination committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

The nomination committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and the Remuneration Committee will make the
recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the nomination committee and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the case
may be; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director
(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director
to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the relevant regulatory
authorities, if required.

Vi.

vii.

viii.
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DIVERSITY

To improve the performance of the Company, the Board has
adopted policies on board diversity. The Board believes that board
diversity can be achieved by taking into account various factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
term of services and other talents. All the appointments have been
made based on the Company’s business models and specific
needs from time to time, and candidates have been assessed with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board on objective
business conditions. The nomination committee will be mainly
responsible for identifying suitable and competent candidates for
Board members and assessing such candidates in light of objective
conditions. As a part of the annual performance review for the
efficiency of the Board, considerations of the nomination committee
will be balanced between skills and experience as required for
accomplishing the business targets of the Company and diversity
factors. To achieve board diversity, the nomination committee will
discuss and develop measurable objectives from time to time, and
propose the same to the Board for adoption and implementation.
Generally speaking, the selection of candidates by the nomination
committee shall be based on a range of diverse perspectives
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
term of services. However, the final decision will depend on the
strengths of the candidates and their prospective contributions
to the Board. The Board may improve one or more diversified
perspectives from time to time, and measure the progress on such
basis. The nomination committee will review the policy from time to
time, including conducting assessments on the effectiveness of the
policy. The nomination committee will also discuss any amendment
that may be necessary, and submit amendment proposals to the

Board for approval.

Please refer to the disclosure in page 63 of this annual report
for the gender ratio of the Company’s employees as at 31 March
2024.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon and
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin. Mr. HON Leung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a member
of the former or existing auditor of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the audit committee held two committee
meetings. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee
member.

Mr. HON Leung
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditors,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(3) to review the interim and annual accounts. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the risk
management and internal controls, and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024.
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GENERAL MEETING(S)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company held one
general meeting, i.e. the annual general meeting. The attendance
by each Director at the aforesaid general meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2024 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meeting in the period
in which the individual was a Director.

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee BRE&Z T E
Mr. WU Qi RELLE
Mr. FONG On Shek FEAR%E
Mr. LUK Simon BEER 2 A
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2L+
Mr. HON Leung EkaE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
functions. This includes developing and reviewing Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has reviewed the

Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, services provided to the
Group by its external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, and the
respective fees paid/payable are set out as follows:

BB &
BE-T-WF=A=+—BULFE HNERUMH

TEEEAMESMERARAAREREZ RS &
EN/ERZEBEERHRINMT :

HK$
BT
Elite Partners CPA Limited ALlEEesMEKMARAR
— Audit services — B IR 480,000
— non-assurance services —EEFRE -
480,000
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BEEYHUKBRRZER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of such consolidated financial statements.
The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 84 to 89.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Responsibility

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
are maintained. Management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks. Sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are designed to identify
and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
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Risk Management Framework

Risk management is enhanced continually, linking to our corporate
strategies and as a continuous part of day-to-day business
operations for all key decision making processes and core business
activities. Major activities of the risk management process include
risk assessment, which constitutes the sub-processes of risk
identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. There involves also
risk assessment documentation, methodologies, risk treatment,
monitoring and review for ensuring the overall effectiveness of risk
management. Fraud risk management through code of conduct and
whistleblowing policy is adopted to uphold honesty, integrity and
fair play as our core values of the Group at all times. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Audit Committee
supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures,
the design and operating effectiveness of the underlying risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee,
acting on behalf of the Board, oversees the following processes:

(i) regular reviews of the principal business risks, and control
measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such risks; the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
system and action plans to address the weaknesses or to
improve the assessment process;

(i) regular reviews of the business process and operations,
including action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses and status update and monitor in implementing
its recommendations; and

(iii) regular reports by the external auditors, if any, of any
control issues identified in the course of their work and
the discussion with the external auditors of the scope of
their respective review and findings. The Audit Committee
will then report to the Board after due review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view on
the effectiveness of these systems.
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Internal Control System

The Group’s internal control system aims at safeguarding assets
from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring
compliance with regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement
or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems. The Group’s internal control system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Policies and procedures are laid
down for its key business processes and business units covering
business operations, financial reporting, human resources and
computer information systems. The Code of Conduct is maintained
and communicated to all employees for compliance. In addition,
a whistleblowing policy was established for employees to raise
concerns in confidence about suspected misconducts, malpractices
or fraudulent activities relating to the Group.

COSO Internal Controls

The Group’s internal control model is based on that set down
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the U.S.
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) for internal controls, and has
five components, namely Control Environment; Risk Assessment;
Control Activities; Information and Communication; and Monitoring.
In developing the Group’s internal control model based on the
COSO principles, management has taken into consideration the
Group’s organisational structure and the nature of its business
activities.

(i) Control Environment

The Board has demonstrated a commitment to integrity
and ethical values. It works with independence from
management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control. Management
establishes the structures, reporting lines, and appropriate
authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
The Board is committed to attract, develop, and retain
competent individuals in alignment with objectives. It
holds individuals accountable for their internal control
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Risk Assessment

The risk assessment specifies objectives with sufficient
clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives. It identifies risks to the achievement
of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed. It
also considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to
the achievement of objectives by identifying and assessing
changes that could significantly impact the system of
internal control.

Control Activities

Management selects and develops control activities that
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels. It also develops
general control activities over technology to support the
achievement of objectives. Control activities through
policies and procedures are established to put into practice.

Information and Communication

Management obtains, generates and uses relevant,
quality information to support the functioning of internal
control. There is internal communication of objectives and
responsibilities necessary to support the functioning of
internal control. External communication regarding matters
affecting the functioning of internal control is made where
necessary.

Monitoring

Management has ongoing evaluations to ascertain whether
the components of internal control are present and
functioning. It evaluates and communicates internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible
for taking corrective action, including senior management
and the Board, as appropriate.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has engaged an
external professional consultant to take the primary role to perform
the Internal Audit (“IA”) function on behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems. The annual review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and considered:

(i) areas of risks identified by management;

(ii) effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems;

(iii) adequacy of the resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function, and their training and budget; and

(iv) any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems as identified as being necessary or
proposed in the Internal Control Review Report. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Executive Director of the Company also provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on 28 June 2024 and
as of that date. As a result of the above, the Board whilst keeping
it under review in light of experience, also considered the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective and

adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements.
The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary

General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Company may also communicate with its Shareholders
through extraordinary general meetings, if and when appropriate.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election and also
a Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office not less than seven (7) clear days but not
more than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general

meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Board is well aware of the importance of maintaining
proper contact with shareholders and strives to enhance its
communication with them. Shareholders can visit the website of
the Company (www.chnif.com.hk) for the latest information of the
Group, including interim and annual reports, announcements,
circulars and corporate governance related policies. Press releases
are also posted on the website of the Company in a timely manner.

General meetings serve as a communication channel between the
Board and shareholders. The Group regards such a meeting as an
important activity of the Company during the year. All Directors and
senior management would attend the meeting as much as they can.
The chairman of the annual general meeting proposes separate
resolutions for each of the independent matters. Members of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, external auditors, independent financial advisers and
external lawyers would also attend the general meeting to answer
questions from shareholders as appropriate. During the year,
the Company held one annual general meeting. Details of each
Director’s attendance at the general meetings are set out on page
40 of this Annual Report.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the company secretarial department
whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretarial Department,

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
Room 1104, Crawford House

70 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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ABOUT THE GROUP

China Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company” or
“‘we”, stock code: 1226) is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). According
to the Chapter 21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company is a
Hong Kong based investment holding company principally engaged
in the investing in securities trading businesses. As the Company
established and principally provides services in Hong Kong, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are fully
committed to environmental protection, social responsibility and
the strictest corporate governance.

While promoting sound business growth, the Group is also
committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation that
maintains high quality standards in our service and operations.
The Group considers social and environmental responsibilities as
one of the core values in business operations to strive for greater
sustainability and transparency, as well as to deliver services that
foster a sustainable environment for the future generation.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023-2024
(the “Report”) covers the Group’s initiatives on the concepts
of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) and the
implementation of the relevant concepts in the normal operations.
The Report also provides an overview to the Group’s direction
in managing ESG-related issues, driving initiatives throughout
the operation, and communicating the Group’s ESG performance
results with stakeholders. The information contained herein has
been sourced from official documents and statistics of the Group
and was consolidated and compiled with the information on
control, management and operations as provided by a number of
departments of the Group.

The preparation and presentation of related information in this ESG
Report has been prepared with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of Listing Rules. The Company
has prepared this Report to meet the “Comply or Explain”
provisions, of which mandatory Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs) are disclosed. The Report focuses on the Group’s ESG
performance driven by the main business in Hong Kong during the
reporting year from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting
Year”). The board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) has
prudently evaluated the development prospects of the existing
business.
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Reporting Principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with the reporting principles
according to Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules, including materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency.

Materiality

The content of the Report is based on stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, gathering and reviewing views from internal management
and various stakeholders, assessing the relevance and materiality
of the issues, and compiling and verifying the reported information.
The Report has covered a comprehensive range of key ESG
issues that are concerned by the stakeholders.

Quantitative

The key performance indicators (“KPIs”) established must be
quantified so as to allow the evaluation of the effectiveness of
the ESG policies. Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools, and source of conversion
factors used for the reporting of emissions and energy consumption
are mainly referred to the ESG Reporting Guide.

Balance

The information provided is unbiased. The Report provides
a holistic description of the performance of the Group on
achievements, rooms for improvement and challenges in ESG. The
report should avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
report reader.

Consistency

A consistent quantification methodology is adopted in this Report
to allow for meaningful data comparisons being made over time. If
there are any future changes in methodology, it shall be indicated
in the Report.

This Report is prepared in both Chinese and English. Both versions
have already been uploaded to the website of Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk and Company’s website at www.chnif.com.hk.
The Group will continuously publish its ESG performance on a
regular basis each year, which can be accessed by all parties at
any time, to enhance the transparency of information disclosure in
the future reports.
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BOARD STATEMENT OF ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting, including evaluating and determining ESG-related risks
and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. The Board is also
responsible for formulating ESG targets, aiming at aligning with
the global vision of carbon neutrality and enhancing corporate
reputation.

The Board delegated the Director of the Group, Mr. Fong On Shek,
to monitor and manage the ESG-related issues. Besides, the Group
has established the ESG Working Group (the “Taskforce”), which
is led and managed by the Director, to ensure the alignment of the
ESG governance with the Group’s strategic growth. The Taskforce
is comprised of members of the Board and core members of the
different departments. The Taskforce is responsible for executing
the Group’s ESG measures, collecting and analysing ESG data,
giving suggestions to the Board on ESG issues and reviewing
ESG-related matters.

With the assistance of the Taskforce, the Board continuously
evaluates and monitors the Group’s ESG performance, risks and
opportunities. The members of the Taskforce have meetings to
discuss the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and procedures
and seek opportunities to improve the Group’s ESG performance.
The Taskforce reports its findings to the Board where appropriate
so that the Board can look for solutions to manage the Group’s
ESG risks and opportunities.

In order to better govern the material ESG issues of the Group
and the Group’s performance in these aspects, the Group has
set environmental targets in different aspects. The Taskforce will
continue to strive towards achieving these targets. The Taskforce
will review the progress of these targets and take measures to
achieve them and report on the progress and make suggestions if
needed to the Board at least annually. Rectification may be needed
if the progress falls short of expectations.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange states four
reporting principles, which include materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency, as the foundation in preparation of the Report.
As emphasized by the Stock Exchange, the participation of
stakeholders is an evaluation method of materiality. By means of
communicating with stakeholders, enterprises could understand the
general opinion and identify important environmental and social
issues.

The Group believes that identifying and addressing stakeholder
views lay a solid foundation to the long-term growth and success
of the Group. In order to prepare this report, the Group has
engaged an independent professional party to conduct a materiality
assessment by distributing questionnaire and incorporating the
advice of professional consultants to clarify important reporting
issues, which serve as the determination basis for the direction of
the Group’s sustainable development.

The communication channels between the Group and its major
stakeholders are as follow:

Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders
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The principal stakeholders are the shareholders and investors of
the Group. They can discuss directly with the Group’s directors
during the general meetings and send emails to the Directors
to raise their concerns. For internal communication channels,
employees can raise their opinions and viewpoints to the Directors
for further improvement.

The operations of the Group have significant impacts on various
stakeholders, while stakeholders have different expectations of the
Group. Looking forward, the Group will continuously strengthen
its communications with its stakeholders, and extensively collect
stakeholders’ opinions on various ways that would lead to a more
comprehensive materiality analysis. Meanwhile, the Group would
also enhance the reporting principles in terms of quantitative,
balance and consistency, and the presentation of content and
information of the report are defined in a way which better
conforms to stakeholders’ expectations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Sustainable development encompasses a holistic spectrum of
environmental and social aspects. In order to harness the related
risks and opportunities, it is important for the Group to determine
the most material aspects. The Group conducted the internal
materiality assessment annually to ensure sustainability topics are
being managed and reported in accordance with their materiality
level.
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To determine the materiality of the selected ESG topics, the
views of senior management from respective operational regions
were sought. The senior management, who possess a high-level
view of all the topics, were asked to score the relevance of each
ESG topic to stakeholder groups and the Group in each of their
perspective. The topics listed in the table below were identified as
the most relevant to our business and operations.

Aspects Material ESG Issues
Em EARBR HEREARSEE

A. Environmental Aspect

A REEME
A2. Use of Resources .
A2. ERfFEM . BERBRERME

B. Social Aspect

RTEEMERR - HLERERTENERME  HM
BRTEELCERESREEENER SREEE
HETRBAEARERNEE LERMMERH
FHIMAEBENEBAEHEERE LeMER
TEMMBERRMEETD - TR EEER S LA
MR R & ER QAR -

Energy consumption and efficiency

B. #8EM
B1. Employment Employee welfare
B1. & B ERA
Inclusion and equal opportunities
BARTERS
Talent attraction and retention
UGN E A= PN
B2. Health and Safety Occupational health and safety
B2. @EHELZ® BERENZE
Workplace safety
TESZ R
B3. Development and Training Development and training
B3. & E KIF R N
B4. Labour Standards Prevention of child and forced labour
B4. & T %8| By 1E&E T il T
B7. Anti-Corruption Corporate governance
B7. R&S EER

Anti-corruption
&S
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to operating business activities in a
clean and sustainable manner. Our business typically engages
in investment in listed securities in Hong Kong and in unlisted
companies. As the Group does not engage in any complicated
operations, the environmental impacts are limited to our office
facilities, the management of waste and resource conservation.
The Group strives to curb emissions and waste, as well as
conserve energy and water resources.

EMISSIONS

The Group’s emissions include air emissions, greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions, discharge of domestic wastewater and solid
wastes. The Group strictly adheres to environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), including but not limited to the Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 311, the law of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354, the law of Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 358, the law of Hong Kong) and Noise Control Ordinance
(Cap. 400, the law of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Year, the
Group was not in violation of any relevant laws and regulations,
which have a significant impact on the Group, related to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Air Emissions

The Group examined the issue of air emission across the
operation. As mentioned, the Group is principally engaged in
financial related services and activities, and with no company-
owned cars that will emit exhaust gas, therefore, there is no
significant impact in this aspect. The Group thus concluded that
no material impact on air emission can be found through direct
emission from the operation. Indirect carbon emission through
electricity consumption is measured and details shall be provided
in later sections. The Group will continue monitoring operation
activities and further information shall be disclosed as changes

occur.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group does not generate direct air pollutants through its
operation. The Group is mitigating its indirect greenhouse gas
emission and is actively measuring its carbon footprint. The
greenhouse gas emissions of the Group are mainly generated from
indirect emission (Scope 2) from the consumption of electricity,
and other indirect emission (Scope 3) from paper waste disposal.
As the Group did not own any vehicles during the Reporting Year,
there were no direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1).

Purchased electricity of the Hong Kong office is the major source
of carbon emissions. The Group will investigate and work with
the employees and external stakeholders to enhance overall
performance and minimize future carbon footprint. Since the
Group is an investment holding company and the greenhouse gas
emissions are insignificant, no reduction target for greenhouse gas
emissions has been developed. However, the Group still targets to
maintain the greenhouse gas emission by the next Reporting Year.
The carbon emission for the Group during the Reporting Year can
be found as the followings:

Greenhouse gas emissions’ in total and intensity 2023/24
—_E2-=

BERBAENREREE —mF
Scope 2 emissions 0.24
& E 28R

Scope 3 emissions 0.01
EEREE

Total greenhouse gas emissions 0.25
RERBENNE

Intensity (by revenue) 0.05

BE (RbatE)

! HK electric emission factor has been used for GHG emissions
calculations. Paper sheet and plastic bag data has been considered to
calculate the scope 3 emissions.

BERBHM

AEERLEBRTPYBELERRBIRY KK
EREROEMBREREHN BB EHEREY -
AEERREREHNEIEREEIERNBEZER
(#E2) KR A REAEEN MR ZEPEN ($ES) - A
RAEERREFELBERBEMTE RALEFE
BERBYM (EE) -

EERARENIINBEENREIZOMBBRE  ~EE
BIEE—FPHRE WRES RINEFEHEET A E
MRS EREAUNRRERDERKIKET - AR A%
ERn—BREZERAR HEEREHRLTEN
BYEHERDBERBHERNOBER - AT AKHE
MEREET BREFENAFEERBHNE X
SEAERSFEELNRIERAOT

2022/23 Unit
—=4F B
0.15 Tonnes CO,-e
WM-—E/tiREE
0.05  Tonnes CO,-e
W tmE =
0.20  Tonnes CO,-e
WS IRE =
0.06 Tonnes CO,-e/million

HKD revenue

WM_StmEE  BEETKE

! BEENHREFANGFEREREHM - AREZH

KROBIBEERE BN EEEH M-
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Waste Management

The Group has set up a Waste Management System as the guiding
principle for waste reduction at source. As a socially responsible
corporation, we are cautious in limiting and managing our daily
operation waste. Wastes are separated into two categories for
better management purpose, including general wastes (domestic

wastes) and recyclable wastes.

Waste reduction measures throughout the operations focus on
recycling paper, and the appropriate use of recycled paper in

workplace. Other waste reduction actions are:

Reuse pen shafts with refills instead of simply throwing away
the whole ballpoint pens;

Dispose rechargeable batteries only in designated collection
boxes;

Recycle toner cartridges; and
Deploy recycling bins to collect used paper products, such

as waste paper, letter and envelope (excluding confidential
documents).

To reduce paper wastage, senior management has implemented
the following additional measures to encourage a paper-less
working environment:

Adopt an electronic system for filling and documentation;

Promote electronic communications and the “think before you
copy” attitude, where employees are encouraged to use both
sides of the paper for printing and copying;

Set computer defaults to double-sided printing and make
double-sided copies when possible;

Communicate through email is suggested instead of letters or
fax when possible; and

Receive incoming faxes electronically through an e-fax
system, and make hard copies only when necessary with
used paper.

BRYEE
AEBEIET —EEYE L EIERFREBRENE
BRA-EA-HARFHGEERNAR AEEE
HHRH ML EEEAEKEELNEEY - BEEYA
DRMBAEEHETER: —RERZD (RERE
ZY)) RO KRR o

EREPHTHBEEDEREREIZE/RREKEAE
T 1635 AT i & {50 1 (] AR O = Lt HE 7T &Y B8 22 W) M ORL

A

- BARTHRELEECERER MATEESEE

RFEEZE:

. BEmMmE: R

- REDWEKEERBNERS MR- 0

REH (TREREXMN) -

RAETRARETHEEIUTRE:

- BOEFBEMARI=ZBMmEIEN] RS SBHE

T AR & 51 E :

c BEMRRERVFRLEINNLAEAENERTE

8 51 £ :

c REETENBATERETFHHMIEERRE
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At the current stage, non-hazardous waste is not a material
issue for the Group, as there is negligible waste generated from
our operations. The Group aims to maintain the intensity of the
non-hazardous waste with the baseline year in 2024 in the next
Reporting Year. However, the Group realises the importance
of proper waste management and will continue to educate its
employees.

Waste Management
BEYER

Non-hazardous waste

BEREZEY

Total non-hazardous waste produced
FELAEZEEDRE

Intensity (by revenue)

RE (st E)

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group understands that effective resource management
is closely related to environmental protection and corporate
sustainability goals. Due to the nature of offices’ operations
and business, the major resources consumed by the Group are
electricity, water and paper. The Green Policy provides various
energy-saving measures for office activities. The Group has
enabled the off-timer function of office equipment, such as
photocopiers, printers and computer monitors in its offices,
allowing such equipment which have been idle for a long time
to automatically power down to save electricity. The Group also
considers the gradual replacement of energy-saving lamps,
including the installation of additional automatic light sensors
where appropriate. More than 30% of the office paper staff used
was from recyclable sources. The Group focuses on purchasing
supplies manufactured from recycled materials, such as tissue

paper.
The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices. As stated in the Green Policy, the Group encourages its
staff members to scale down font size, reduce paper margins and
set up double-sided printing.

2023/24
—E-=
—mEF

2.256

EREE AREBELNERY A BT SE
ERENHAEEMSAFEATE - AKEN B R
RET—REFEU_Z_NFAELEFRISEESE
RYMBE - A AEERADNZLEETEEREZYN
BEEW YHEEHEHEBT-

2022/23 Unit

—=F B
12.0 Kg
A
3.341 Kg/million HKD
R/ BEET

BRER
AEBRAMAYMEREREERBTREMDENA
SEERAGETHBE -ERNRAZENEERERM
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BRRHEBAEDRHE T ITRANEGEEE AL E
ERMAEHEENE - FTENE N BB R &5 5 AR E
RRRFRERAE BREMTETRENRBED
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NBEEBMHEKNENERGR -

AEBEBRGERAEENRABALBBERLAEME
MEMBERERNETRNA - FERRIFIIALE
BB E TRAE W FRIUBMENWEZIE A
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The Group incorporates environmental issues into its business
plan systematically, including formulating more detailed corporate
internal guidelines for environmental protection, as well as
formulating sustainable development policies and road maps in the
long term and proactively promoting a number of environmental
protection campaigns. The major resources used by the Group are
principally attributed to electricity and water consumed at Hong
Kong office. The Group aims to improve its energy efficiency so
as to achieve low-carbon practice and emission reduction year by
year.

The water consumption of the Group is minimal and was included
in the management fee. Therefore, the figures were not available for
our calculation. The daily water consumption is mainly supplied by
the municipal water network, and there is no difficulty in sourcing
water.

Due to our business nature as an investment holding company,
our operation does not involve a significant amount of energy and
water consumption. Although we have not set reduction targets,
the Group has implemented the following measures to enhance
resource efficiency and the results achieved are listed below:

Light-emitting diode (LED)

. Partial lightings of the office have been installed with light-
emitting diodes instead of compact fluorescent lamps which
can reduce electricity consumption as compared with compact
fluorescent lamps.

Water consumption

. During the cleaning of office, the cleaning workers were
strictly controlled for using of water and frequency of cleaning.
As a result, the consumption of water was saved.

Non-hazardous waste

. Non-hazardous wastes generated from the office includes
plastic bottle, paper for office use and kitchen waste. The
Group has contributed its best effort to minimize the impact
on the environment by using recyclable raw materials or
supplementary materials in the production process. The
Group promoted separation of wastes such as cartons and
plastic bottles, which were placed in certain areas assigned to
recycled suppliers for collection.

AEERERGBHRRBZEAALEFEZF B
EHFTEFENOCEARPRRES ARKEAFE
FRBRNBERE BHREHESERRTHIR K
EEEANTIZERIERBEBMERZEANEN
RRK-REBEERTERRE KMEIERE
B B R A B

AEBENBKERD UHAEREH AUt HAE
AEAFEZFEE AFAKELTZAMBKEHR
J& - It BR KOS B IR 2 -

MRBRMNEBHEARERBRAE RNOEET
S B A BB 1O B TR R K 1O 3 o R 3 1P 3 4 3R E AL
B2 A E BT BHERIEE SRAE M
BRI RFIRMT :

KX —_fE (LED)
. MAENIH S BPECEAEL —HERRBERE -
BHBEETRLAE-

)i
s HEWAEMBFRBIEF BRABZEBILHIK
MERRBERIEER A ST REAK-

BERREY

c MRAEEENEBETEREVERBEE RAEAR
rEEERY AKBELERRETERT DK
R F o B #L AR R KRS WRIEERE
MEE - AEBEEEEEN IR OEAEMBRE
R DR E R R (R 3 1 MK AR 7 R R R
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Total packaging material used during the year is 0.012 tonnes. The
Group has consumed the following amount of resources during the
Reporting Year.

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type

Use of resources 2023/24
—E2-=

ERER —mE
Indirect energy consumption 1.28
eI H A%

Total energy consumption 1.28
BERHEAE

Intensity (by revenue) 0.241

RE (amatE)

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group is committed to providing a complete picture of our
environmental initiatives. We strive to build an eco-conscious
culture that ingrains positive lifestyle and habits among employees.
We encourage the use of public transportation, and offer job ticket
incentives at some locations. Our event management is also an
avenue by which we seek to integrate sustainability principles.
Events are usually held on-site and avoid the use of disposal
utensils. For catering, locally grown/produced items are preferred
as opposed to packaged items with a higher carbon footprint.
Green procurement is adopted at some locations through the
purchase of eco-friendly cleaning solutions. During the Reporting
Year, there was no significant amount of natural materials used by
the Group.

KEEBFEANBEMEEE B0.0120 - REBRHKE
FEHEENEREMNT

BREHESWEER NEEEFEE

2022/23 Unit
—T-=/
—-= B
0.79 GJ
HEE
0.79 GJ
HEH
0.220 GJ/million HKD revenue
HEH B88TlE
BBERARER

AEBHONET - ETENRFE -HMABNZE
Y-BEREREBAXE FEEXEERRNERER
MERTAMBER RMEBERIARBTA:
WHERLWHRETEZRBD RMANEHEELE
EMSRESUHEERRAUNEE - EFHREER
EET B REA — IR AR - BN E R BRI
ERENBERRAL TEE SENERER
AR-BBBERRBER XLWHTRBTHER
B-RNREFE FAEBELBERECARAER-
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change poses escalating risks to many industries. As such
risks may engender negative impacts on the business operation,
thus the Group’s management assesses the risks incurred by
climate change. Supported by the Taskforce, the Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks regularly during board meetings
and ensures that they are incorporated into our strategy. The
Group has identified possible impacts of climate change on
business operations and mitigated the major impact caused by
climate change.

For physical risks, extreme weather has been more frequent
and severe due to climate change. The increased frequency and
severity of extreme weather might negatively affect the Group’s
operations. Under extreme weather, operational facilities may be
damaged, while the safety of the workforce may also be impacted.
The Group has developed guidelines for working arrangements in
adverse weather, which guide employees to respond to possible
emergencies such as being unable to work because of flooding
or typhoon strikes in the event of typhoon and rainstorm weather
warnings. The Group will stay alert to any announcement by
the local government on weather conditions and prepare for
emergency actions.

For transitional risk, Stock Exchange has required listed companies
to enhance climate-related disclosures in their ESG reports, which
may result in increased compliance costs. Failure to meet the
climate change compliance requirements may expose the Group
to risks of claims and lawsuits, which may also cause a negative
impact on its reputation.

In the future, tightened policy actions and emerging technologies
might require the Group to switch to low-carbon operations
in the office. The upgrade of the office equipment with higher
energy efficiency and lower greenhouse gas emissions may
incur extra operation costs to support the Group’s technological
transformation.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group ingrains social responsibility into all aspects of its
operations. Maintaining honest and authentic dialogue with our
staff, we seek to address our needs and views that ensure our
conduct is responsible at all times. We commit to offering a fair and
safe workplace with staff development opportunities. Furthermore,
we commit to the delivery of quality products grounded on ethical
business conduct and supply chain management, as well as to
meaningful engagements with the community.

Employment

The Group considers its staff as one of the most important assets,
which underpins the growth of the corporation. Each employee
deserves respect and is committed to providing a pleasant working
environment for them. The Group strives to provide a fair and
respectful working environment to our employees. The “Staff
Code” of the Group expressly provides policies in respect of
compensation, recruitment, dismissal, promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity and other benefits and welfare.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 570,
the law of Hong Kong), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
487, the law of Hong Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
480, the law of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608,
the law of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap.
282, the law of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (Cap. 485, the law of Hong Kong), the Labour law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China and Prevention and the Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of China.

HEER

BREREIESR
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As of 31 March 2024, the Group has a total of 17 employees, BHEZZ-_NWF=RA=+—H A5BHEMATEE
including employees from Hong Kong, and the total employee T (REBEEL) #BEEMRKLERI% L IRAE
turnover rate is 0%. The distribution of the workforce classified by REDEE I oM T
different categories is listed as follows:
Total workforce EEHAH"
Employment 2023/24 2022/23  Unit
—E=-= ===/
EE —mE -_= By
Total number of employees 17 17  Employee
RERE ZIER
By Gender Male 1 11 Employee
MBI St ZEE
Female 6 6 Employee
gl ZEE
By employment type Full-time 17 17  Employee
REREEMNE S - HER
Part-time 0 0 Employee
e ZEE
By age group 30 years old or below 0 0 Employee
REERMERIE D B0ORFIA T ZEE
31-40 years old 6 8 Employee
31-407% HEE
41-50 years old 4 2  Employee
41-505% “ES
51-60 years old 3 4  Employee
51-605% ZREE
Over 60 years old 4 3  Employee
6058 A £ HIER
By employment category Director 6 6 Employee
RESERNE D BF ZREE
Employee 1 11 Employee
(== HER
By function Executive 16 16 Employee
RBaEE D 1T HIER
Administrative 1 1 Employee
TH HES
By geographical region Hong Kong 9 9  Employee
i [ & 5 N HEE
China 8 8 Employee

e #ER
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Employee turnover rate EERKLEE
Employment 2023/24 2022/23  Unit
—E== —=E-
&% —mE —=F B
Total employee turnover rate 0 0 %
HEBMKRLE
By Gender Male 0 0 %
IR =Rk
Female 0 0 %
g
By employment type Full-time 0 0 %
RERERE D g
Part-time 0 0 %
e BB
By age group 30 years old or below 0 0 %
RERE R E D 30BR AT
31-40 years old 33.33 0 %
31-40%%
41-50 years old 0 0 %
41-507%
51-60 years old 33.33 0 %
51-6073%
Over 60 years old 0 0 %
607% A
By employee category Director 0 0 %
ZEBRERMNE S 5%
Employee 0 0 %
B8
By function Executive 0 0 %
RSl D HITAE
Administrative 0 0 %
TBAER
By geographical region Hong Kong 0 0 %
i@ E o BB
China 0 0 %

B
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Recruitment and Promotion

The human resources department conducts a comprehensive
recruitment review process to ensure that the data provided
by the candidates are accurate. The Group’s recruitment and
promotion process are carried out in a fair and open manner for
all employees. Employees are recognized and rewarded by their
contribution, work performance and skills, and outcomes will not be
affected by any discrimination on the grounds of age, sex, physical
or mental health status, marital status, family status, race, skin
colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation
and other factors. In cases of resignation and/or dismissal, the
entire procedure is compliant with statutory requirements, with
exit interviews conducted as necessary. Long-serving employees
are recognized through award schemes. The Group monitors
the turnover rate with a view to continuously improve our human
resources management.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group’s policies and procedures included in the human
resources manuals are reviewed and updated regularly. The
Group discourages and disallows any behaviour that violates the
regulations in the human resources policies. Offenders will receive
warning, and the Group has the right to terminate employment
contract with offenders for any serious violations. The Group’s
staff grievance mechanism is a confidential channel by which
staff may report suspected cases of rights infringement, which
are then handled according to formal procedures. Other regular
communication channels include newsletters, circular notices,
notice boards, as well as working groups. Staff satisfaction
surveys and staff motivation schemes are also conducted which
further demonstrate our commitment to improving the working
environment.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of age, sex, physical or mental health
status, marital status, family status, race, skin colour, nationality,
religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation. In selecting our
employees, the Group considers the experience, knowledge and
background of the individual that can contribute to the diversity
and caliber. We embrace diversity and inclusion in our employment
policy that builds a respectful workplace, where equal opportunities
with regard to recruitment and promotion are given to staff with
disabilities. Necessary accommodations to work environment are
also carried out to meet their needs. All personnel staff receives
training related to non-discriminatory practices for the surest
measure. The Group strives to ensure a safe and secure workplace
with zero tolerance to any form of abuse and/or sexual harassment
in the workplace. Staff grievance and disciplinary procedures of the
Group are established to ensure all submitted cases are treated
with confidentiality and fairness.

HEEET
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

We seek to cultivate a culture of healthy work-life balance. All
working hours comply with national laws and benchmark industry
standards, and overtime work is voluntary. The Group adopts a
five-day work-week and encourages our employees to have a
good balance among health, work and social or family activities.
The Group assists staff to balance commitments outside of work
by offering a range of leaves, which include annual, marriage,
maternity, paternity, compassionate and others.

Other Benefits and Welfare

Employees of the Group are remunerated at a competitive level
and are rewarded according to their performance and experience.
We conduct annual performance appraisals and remuneration
review that take reference of prevailing market trends. Employees
are entitled to retirement benefit schemes.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Regardless of local laws or international standards, regulatory
bodies all have in place the basic requirements in relation to health
and safety in workplaces. Due to its business nature, the current
business operations of the Group primarily involve office work
and no position has been identified as having high safety risks.
The Group not only strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, but also sets out “Code of Employee
Safety Management”. The above policy aims to foster awareness
of safety of employees and regulate the employee’s behaviours
during their daily work. The policy also states that fire-fighting
equipment, such as fire extinguishers, are required to be equipped
at the workplace, and safety training and fire drills for employees
are conducted regularly, in order to enhance employees’ capability
to cope with unexpected incidents and allow them to perform
safety protection in a timely manner.

TERRBR R

B OkEE—EAREIEEEZTTFENOXE-TEB
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The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
applicable Safety and Health laws and regulations that has
a significant impact on the Group relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Cap. 509, the law of Hong Kong), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282, the law of Hong Kong),
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance (the law of Hong
Kong) Fire Services Ordinance (Cap. 95, the law of Hong Kong),
etc., during the Reporting Year. During the past three years,
including the Reporting Period, the Group did not record any
accidents that resulted in death or serious physical injury.

Health and Safety 2023/24
—E2-=

BREHRZ2 —mE
Number of work-related fatalities 0
HTEREmMETH AR

Rate of work-related fatalities 0
BT ERERMIE T YL 3%

Lost days due to work injury 0
AIGEATIIERH

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group firmly believes that fostering and retaining talent is a
core part of ensuring corporate development and strengthening
its competitiveness. The Group has prepared its management
system on staff training, which formed the basis of planning and
implementation of training system. The Group has offered various
types of targeted training to its staff based on the actual needs of
different departments and functions, and developed personalized
training development programs for key positions, aiming to
motivate employees to develop their potential. The Group has
also encouraged staff to engage in external programmes, such
as online courses for continuous professional development and
skillset enhancement.

RHEFE AERLTAFEARNEERERRZET
ERELRBETHRBEERENAARLBEXE
AFENTMEEREAREREBOEMEAL (2
RETIRRBER 2 REERD (FEEDIFES509%) -
EEMEGD (EBEDIE2825) THERR GO (&
IR EPED (FRIEBIZEISE)F)MIFR -
BE=BFE (BEREHRE)  NEBLEESEM
BHRURBEEAFBENER-

2022/23 Unit

—=E2=-=/
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0 No.
A
0 %
0 No.
A
BRERIEIN
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RIE #HERER/RKRE
Percentage of trained employees
Development and Training

BRE R

Percentage of trained employees
XillEEAD

By Gender Male

IR &S =Rk
Female
g

By employee category Director

ZIEBERE S BF
Employee
U==]

By function Executive

R REE D MITAB
Administrative
THAE

Average training hours completed

Development and Training

BRE R

Average training hours per employee

BEEE XA F RS

By Gender Male

IR E=Rid
Female
7t

By employee category Director

RIEBERE D s
Employee
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By function Executive
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Administrative
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The Group offers induction orientation and appropriate assistance
for every newly-joined staff member. The induction orientation
mainly introduces the Group, its corporate culture, rules and
regulations and code of conduct, etc., which enables staff to fit
into the corporate culture of the Group and further understand their
working environment and responsibility. The Group is committed
to establishing a platform for career development for its staff and
to providing on-job internal training relating to professional skills,
general management skills, career development and mentality.
Also, staff are provided with the opportunity to attend business
training organized by external training organizations. The Group
encourages the staff to take seminars and other activities related
to the business. Based on its business development requirements,
the Group will consider to cooperate with relevant training
organizations or institutions engaged in providing training for
certain management or technical personnel in key positions.

AEBRET (I B TRHEABISE
BEINAREIZEREAEEGN
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CAREEEEEYZEMA
EEEREANEER

Training for new staff

#E T3

* Introduction of the Group
» Corporate culture

* Rules and regulations

» Code of conduct

Training for existing staff

ERE T3

Professional skills

General management
skills

Career development
and mentality

Business training

Entrusted training

e ]

Training for technical
personnel

Training for management
personnel

AT A 5

- REEBN

- BEXI(E - EXREGE
- REHE - BREERKEE
< 1TRAE - BERERELOE

- EEEY

Looking ahead, the Group will strengthen its staff communication
mechanism and gather staff feedback on training. The Group plans
to collect feedback on training including satisfaction surveys from
participating staff, and to review the implementation of training
programs in a timely manner, so that the effectiveness of the
training system could be further enhanced.

- BEATE
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LABOUR STANDARDS

Child and forced labor, though seemingly irrelevant to most
developed societies, are in fact easily present in the value chain
of any business operation. To combat against such practices, the
Group prohibits all forms of child labor and forced labor or modern
slavery, as defined by the International Labour Organization, not
only in our operations but also throughout our supply chain.

We prohibit any form of forced, bonded or compulsory labor,
human trafficking and other kinds of slavery and servitude. Any
form of discrimination, harassment or bullying is not tolerated.
We extend our commitment to our suppliers by requiring all
business partners to take measures to avoid and eliminate any
form of forced, bonded or compulsory labor, or human trafficking.
The rights and freedoms of every individual is protected as no
worker is asked to surrender identification documents nor lodge
deposits as a condition of employment. Cases of child labor in our
businesses are averted by conducting age verification of all job
applicants. If there are any cases of forced labour, child labour
and illegal immigrant labour on staff, employment with all these
candidates will be immediately terminated. The Group would also
take responsibility for the investigation.

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, the law of Hong Kong),
Immigration Ordinance (Cap. 115, the law of Hong Kong),
Employment of Children Regulations and other applicable laws and
regulations relating to preventing child or forced labour during the
Reporting Year.

OPERATING PRACTICES AND SOCIAL
INVESTMENT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

It is our objective to work and procure from reputable suppliers,
and the Group’s internal control policy provided procedures for
supplier selection and engagement are formulated to ensure
fairness and openness. As the business nature of the Group is
investment, there was no major supplier for the Group’s operation.

The Procurement and Tender process is generally applicable
to office supply suppliers, such as on potable water, paper and
stationery products, and is decided based solely upon price, quality
and needs. Suppliers should comply with all relevant local and
national laws and regulations to avoid unethical behaviour, bribery,
corruption and other prohibited business practices. Any non-
compliance act shall result in termination of future cooperation.

TR
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AR BREHREOE - R ARBERIKERS 25X
BRI E VER FEERERE i LA 8 o2 FUH BR (E a1 712 =0 19 58
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The Group also focused on the environmental and social risks
of its suppliers. The Group focused on purchasing from suppliers
who complied with all labour and environmental regulation of local
government and authorities. Looking forward, the Group intends to
periodically evaluate supply chain performance in environmental
and social aspects, and appropriate compliance assessment shall
be conducted in order to reduce operation risk and protect rights
and interests of all parties.

To integrate the environmental vision of the Group into the
procurement of office supplies, priority is given to environmentally
friendly products, such as refillable ballpoint pens, mechanical
pencils and recyclable toner cartridges. Besides, we prioritise
purchasing energy-saving products in order to reduce the negative
effects brought by the Group’s supply chain. With our strict
adherence to green procurement principle, the usage of materials
is constantly evaluated to avoid overstocking and squandering
resources.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
potential negative impact on business ethics, environmental
protection, human rights and labor practices, nor any

noncompliance incident caused by suppliers.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group’s operation is investment holding, and there were no
material issues regarding to product responsibility, health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters as determined by
the Group.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not identify any non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided in the Reporting Year. These laws include but not
limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486, the law
of Hong Kong), Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap. 559, the law of Hong
Kong), Patents Ordinance (Cap. 514, the law of Hong Kong) and
Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528, the law of Hong Kong).

AEENETHEFNBEREREGRKB NEEFE
P38 ST 75 RS S M B /O P &5 B T2 3R 30 3R 191 0 4 e
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group believes that integrity is the fundamental value of
responsible corporate operations, as well as the root of maintaining
competitive advantages and sustainable development. The Group
values the good characters and conducts of its staff members
and has zero tolerance over any behavioural misconduct, including
corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering. The “Anti-
Fraud System” of the Group sets out the concept and format
of such misconduct, the vesting of responsibilities of anti-fraud
endeavours, the complaints, receiving and reporting procedures
of fraudulent activity, preventions and control of fraudulent
activity, protection of informants, as well as the remedies and
disciplinary actions on fraudulent cases, in order to incorporate
the management principles of anti-corruption in the business

operations.

Anti-Corruption 2023/24
—E2-=

k&S —mE

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corruption 0

EREYRESNFREFHAE

Whistle-blowing Policy

In respect of unverified reports from the general staff, the office
of the Board shall conduct joint evaluation with the human
resources department of the Group to decide whether to conduct
an investigation. Should the case involve any senior management
of the Group, with the permission of the Board and the audit
committee, the standing officer of the anti-fraud unit and the
management of the respective department shall form a joint
special investigation unit to conduct a joint investigation. Any staff
confirmed to be involved in such fraudulent activities shall be
subject to disciplinary actions within the Group, or, any misconduct
of a criminal nature shall be referred to the judicial authorities
for processing under the laws. Regardless of conducting special
investigation or not, the Group shall respond to the complaining
persons in regards to the result of the investigation, and shall
record in detail the complaint and investigation materials and keep
the relevant files for record.

k&S
AEEREHAERAXARERLENEREER BT
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The Group shall maintain the confidentiality of the reported
information and relevant information of the complaining persons,
and restrict any staff member receiving such complains or involved
in the investigation from disclosing any such information without
authorization or verification. The abovementioned system is

applicable to all staff members.

Anti-corruption Training

The Group understands the importance of promoting
anti-corruption thoughts to the employees. The Group prepared
an internal anti-corruption training session for Directors and
employees to strengthen the anti-corruption practice and enhance
the awareness on conflicts of interest and integrity issues. The
training session was led by Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Executive
Director).

During the Reporting Year, the anti-corruption measures of the
Group were in effect, and no court cases involving corruption of
the Group or staff members have arisen. The Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201, the law of Hong Kong) and other applicable
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during
the Reporting Year.

Anti-Corruption Training
k&SI

Number of anti-corruption training
sessions

REFEINIRE

Total number of training hours related to
anti-corruption

REFHEBEIER K

Percentage of employees with

anti-corruption training Directors
BEXRESEINEEBD L B=F
Employees

’E
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As the market places focus more on corporate behaviours and
social responsibilities, the pursuit of maximizing financial returns
to reward shareholders is no longer the only goal of corporate
management. The Group pays close attention to its bonds with the
community where it operates and is well aware of the importance
of different stakeholders’ expectations. The Group firmly believes
that balancing the interests between shareholders and other
stakeholders is the only way to achieve the long-term business
development in a stable and healthy manner.

The Group pursues sustainable development of the community by
supporting initiatives that create effective and long-lasting benefits
to the local communities. The Group supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to actively participate
in social welfares, voluntary services and community activities in
their spare time, so as to further share the care and warmth to
their families and surrounding communities. Our staff dedicated
50 hours per year to community investment by volunteering with
‘Doctor Pet, a non-profit organization. They visited hospitals,
residential care homes, day care centers for the elderly, integrated
children and youth service centers, and various schools (including
universities, secondary schools, and kindergartens) with their pets.
The Group will continue seek opportunity on making contribution or
participating in the voluntary work on supporting education for the
needy in the coming financial year.

Looking forward, the Group will study the possibility of establishing
the specialized committee to plan and promote such activities in
relation to the sustainable development of communities based
on its own prospect and objective in respect of the Group’s
sustainable future.
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BERBXM (RE
RBERG

Disclosure Requirements

RERTE

disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;
BRRESSURE HEREAEENEE

board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-
related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses)

EZEMRE HEREREETHEEKR SR E BRIIINE
BEENRE HERERBEBEE( a%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ‘ﬁ)\%ﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂ@t %) M B
iz

how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
businesses.

ERSMAERRE LeREREMERR
BOIAEBEHE-

Description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following

AER WEBTMmAmE 2

Reporting Principles (Materiality, Quantitative, Consistency) in the
preparation of the ESG report

HOAREERERR HERELBRENNAEBTIIERRA (&
Z B —3)

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report
and describing the process used to identify which entities or
operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the
scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason for the
change

mERE tekE)
ARE -HERER
TRZEN;EFR

AMEMEREE REANERLERRELH
REMBE -FERBEAMNE ETAREE

Policies
BHERARAE
HEHHER

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

REPH - AAKRLHOES BERESERNNE

impact on the issuer; relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

BTHRTABEAZENRBERRRAD -
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F R

HEESD

Sections

B

ESG Governance
B e kERATY
ESG Governance

HERERAE

ESG Governance
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About This Report
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About This Report

Emissions
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KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections

BREREE BERTE =41

A1A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
BB R R AR B B AR - R

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

BEE(8E1) RaREZ (8E2) AEREHENE (UEHE) R (0 Hny
BR)EE (MAGESEM - BERIETE) -

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Waste Management
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
EAAEREDEE (WEAE) K (NER)BE (MNBES8L . BEEVER
BHERZMTHE) -

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Waste Management
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
EAREEEYAS (UHEE) R (NER)YE (MABESSM . BEENER
BIEERBITHE) -

A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Emissions
them.

WA MR E R R R AENEL R RARRA - R
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Waste Management

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

BB AEENBEEREEMN AL RFRAIZAREERIAE
HEL BRI B

EEYER
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KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections

BREREE BRERTE =41

A2 Use of Resource

ERER

A2 General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water Energy Consumption

and other raw materials.
— R BRERER (BEaR KR EAMRERME) IR E - B R OB #E

A21 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, Energy Consumption
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BENESMEER /SREER (NE - FId) B2 (UWTET SRER
REFE)RERE (MASEEEM  BERMTH) -

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production =~ Water Consumption
volume, per facility).
BREKERTE (MAGESEL BERMTHE) - Ak

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  Energy Consumption
achieve them.
AT HRERERA NG EERAETEL A BRI TR - B IROH

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit Water Consumption
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
HCKEGER KR EAI B EAMEE IR UMAKEGEEERE AKX
ETE LR RAMRRE TSR -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, Packaging Materials

if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
HREMABEMHNAE (UNFE) R (ER)BEEEMEE - BEMH
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KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREEVER BESRE B
A3 The Environment and

Natural Resources

RERRABR
A3 General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the Environment and Natural
environment and natural resources. Resources
— R MEETAHRBERARERENERZBHRE - RERRAER
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment Environment and
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Natural Resources
HIEBFDERERRAERNEAZERERNEEEHATZEN RERRAER
178
Ad Climate Change
RAEE(
Ad General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related Climate Change
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
—RE BAREHERERAREHETAELYENERRRERFENR RIEE (L
o
AdA Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Climate Change

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

HUDERAREHETAELAYENEARKEREE  REHTY - REEL
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KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREREE BRERTE =41
Social
re
B1 Employment
E1E
B1 General Disclosure Policies Employment
—B®E FRFMEEE BERES TERS BB TERe 2ok ER
IR AR DA T A 55 38 T A M ) R
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Employment
impact on the issuer; relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment, and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
BTHBETARERYENABEERAD - ER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or Employment
part-time), age group and geographical region.
RIER ERER (M2REER) FRENRGLEIINEERE - ER
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Employment
region.
BRI FRANRMRE DA EERKL X ER
B2 Health and Safety
BEEZE
B2 General Disclosure Policies Health and Safety
—RIKE B® EEREZSE

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Health and Safety
impact on the issuer

BITHETABEAZENABEEZRMAM REze
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RIE - HERERRE
KPIs
TR

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

B3 Development and Training

B R RIE
B3 General Disclosure

—RE

B3.1

B3.2

Disclosure Requirements

RERTE

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the
past three years including the reporting year.

BE-F (BRERFE)SFRITHMAZ R X

Lost days due to work injury.
AIGHEATIERS:

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
HOFRA BB ERT 2 HE UXABRTRERA A

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

ARRTMERET TEBREMANBLREOBE - #lEFIED -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

HR R EEER (NEREERE PRERE)FINXIEERD
Lo

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
BURIREEERE S BREETRZINTHEE-

Sections

B

Health and Safety

EREze

Health and Safety
EEZE

Health and Safety

REEZE

Development and
Training
EEYEE

Development and
Training
R KE

Development and
Training
EEYEE
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oo L= AY \s
RIE - HERERRSE
KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BRENEER BERTE =4:}
B4 Labour standards
% T
B4 General Disclosure Policies Labour standards
—BEE B % TA

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Labour standards
impact on the issuer

BTHETAREAYENAMER KRN & T AR
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Labour standards
child and forced labour.
RS IS E A AR R E T RREI ST - &% TR
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Labour standards
discovered.
HOERRERBERNEREEERTRRE S B TR
B5 Supply chain management
e 12
B5 General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Supply chain
chain. management
—RIKE ERMHEEENIRZ R GRBRBE - e R
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply chain
management
R E S HEREE - HEEE R
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they = management
are implemented and monitored.
M EREREEFNEN AERTAEBENOHERINE ARE HERER
BAITRERR %
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Supply chain
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and management
monitored.

mAEEBNHERSARGNRERSEGRBRNEN  AREEY HEREE
TRERE-
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RE  dE8REREKRS

KPIs
HREEMER

B5.4

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEME

B6 General Disclosure

—RE

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

Disclosure Requirements

RERTE

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B ERERERRREZARRERRRBNEDN  URAEBNT
BREEF

Policies

B

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

BTHBETABERTENRARER LAY

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
BENEEREnBYTRL 2 BRFEEAMACNKNBE AL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.
REMNERERBNIRFHE U REH X

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

ML EgELRENZERGBNED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
HEERTBRRERDKRER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

HIEBEBHRERLBRE AR ABATRERETA-

Sections

B

Supply chain
management

HrEEE R

Product Responsibility
EmEME

Product Responsibility

mt

EmEE

Product Responsibility

EmAfE

Product Responsibility

EmA

Product Responsibility

il

EDD,\{{

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility

EmAfE
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oo L= AY \s
RIE HERERRE
KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BEEVER BESRE B
B7 Anti-corruption

k&S
B7 General Disclosure Policies Anti-corruption

—RIEE B k&S

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Anti-corruption
impact on the issuer

BTHETAREAYENAMER KRN &5
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Anti-corruption

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.
RERMALETASHEEREIEEENE SFARGOHER REF

RS

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, Anti-corruption
and how they are implemented and monitored.
MR R BRIEF A RBEATREE R % R&E5

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Anti-corruption
HiMEEFRE TREMNRE)GHE - R&5

B8 Community investment

HEREE
B8 General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the ~ Community investment

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

—RIRE ERNWHR2ERTREEMEHEFTENRREEBZHSERE HRERE
B 21 R o

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, Community investment
labour needs, health, culture, sport).
TIEHGR (M5 BRFE STIRL RE X BE) . HERHE

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community investment
EEIBEMBBER (N EARMH) - HERIRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBEAERE

elite
~ partners

To the Members of
China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 90 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2024, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BPERAREREERAA
(RESHSEMA T2 HFRLA)
ERERR

=R

AAZEED (AT M [#1M])) EF R BN EIEE167
ETERMEEBERAR([ERARKEKEAR
A(HEE5E]) 2HaMBHRE WEEMB®RE
BER-_ZE_NEF=A=+-HZHEAMBRRE"
LRBEZRLFEZHFABREMNEBE2ERER 4R
ERDEIREGARINER UREAMBEE
M (BREERSFHEKRER)

BB ZEHREUBRRBEETEGHM e (&
AEFMAS)BHEEVHERELER ([FEH
BHREEADEEATFHRR EXKER T _F
A=+ -RAZBEAUBRALERBEZBLFE
ZHEAMBRAMMFEREREICERELAAE
PIVREREZ BRE -

RRzE%E
BPEREBETESTMASEM 2 BEBRITER ([F
AEAENDETEXRIE - BRARZFEYNETZ
BEERARE (RBMRABERGEMBRR AL
—HE-—FHA-REBFEGHMRIGN [FEXEF
mhEfEss Al (IR HMABIY BEXE XE
BITAETAEMBEREC RMRARMEESSE
REE ZEREE WERRMER Z AR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of debt investments measured at
amortised cost

We identified the impairment assessment under expected credit
losses (“ECL") of HKFRS 9 for debt investments measured at
amortised cost as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the significant management
estimates and judgement required in the measurement.

. Determination of the criteria for significant increase in credit
risk (“SICR”);

. Selection of models and assumptions used in the ECL
models, including Probability of default (“PD”) and Loss given
default (\LGD”); and

. Establishing the relative probability weightings of forward-
looking scenarios.

In addition, the ECL measurement involves management estimates
and judgement in the consideration of various factors, including
the realisable value of securities or collaterals from clients and
their guarantors which are held by the Group and subsequent
settlement and additional collaterals received.

The total gross amount of debt investments measured at amortised
cost was approximately HK$54,468,000 with accumulated
impairment provision of approximately HK$9,651,000 as at 31
March 2024, details of which has been disclosed in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Annual R rt
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the
following:

. We evaluated the competence, capabilities and independence
of the Group’s external valuer;

. We understood the established policies and procedures
on impairment assessment of the Group in relation to the
application of ECL model under HKFRS 9;

. We assessed the reasonableness and appropriateness of the
management’s judgement on staging criteria for determining if
a SICR has occurred or the financial asset is credit-impaired
and the basis for classification of exposures into the 3 stages
as required by HKFRS 9;

. We evaluated the reasonableness and appropriateness of the
model and assumption; and

. We examined significant data inputs into the ECL model,
including PD and LGD after taking into consideration of
forward-looking information.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

Annual R rt
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

ERBEEAEFEMETEIANBRES RMAERT
BEAHTAEEAESFBEPRT TRERREE-
FAPI IR -

© BRI RFHEBNEREERERMEBURA M IRE
FHREARERRAARER Rt RATESESF
NEHZERR UEBRBREMEENETR
FEREMERNER - B RFFA S K&
womE BRER ERRAL HEBRABE
Bz £ EHIAREEHIRAMFEMERNEKNER
WLE’]H % B[R] 85 3R T B BUA) B K R AR R B L

c THRERFHEBAANEE URANERRE
T%ﬁ?ﬂéﬁ’]%%ﬂiﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁ’wﬂ#ﬁ EEER
MEENBREHRRER -

- FEEEFRAEABENREEREL G
AAAMEEREN SR

- HEFRABELCESTERMOREEIEL AR -
BEMENESEE AEEEFEMESHNE
NEBHERTEEN MAE SE£EEBE
KEMRENBRERRE WRBEMABAFEE
ATHEEE WBENECREMBEPRBEE
SHBHRETPOREREEHOET WA
ﬁﬁgﬁﬂﬂzﬂ’E'Jﬁﬁf‘knTﬁiﬁE@%E°ﬁiﬁﬁ'\]#
MMEEREHEZEA RS A LTRGBS 5ayf°
AT RIRFMHIE RN AT BB E\w.T

BRHERE -

. HEGAMBRENERIBS L BRANE
BEBBEN URGAMBRRLE AL LT
HHZ P REE-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBEAERE

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Liu Haijiao with Practising Certificate
number P08207.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 23, YF Life Tower,
33 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

28 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

E s {‘m + E LI& 43,% For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZ—Z _MF=A=+—HILFE
2024 2023

—B-MmE —F_=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

liofsa FERT FET

Gross proceeds from disposal of

HEEMEFZERELR

listed securities 29,770 177,729
Revenue I &= 8 5,318 3,592
Net realised (loss)/gain on disposal of HENRRXFEFABREZ

listed equity investments at fair value FHRAKRE ZEER

through profit or loss (BE) k=% (45,662) 1,817
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on listed AR FEFAEREZ

equity investments at fair value EHRAEE 2 RER

through profit or loss Wi/ (EE)FE 13,201 (32,610)
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AAFEEFAEREZ

investments at fair value through FELEMRAIRE 2

profit or loss REIREIEFEE (335) (2,375)
Impairment losses under expected BHEEEEEATH

credit loss model, net of reversal BEEE (CNRER) 10 (2,728) (1,170)
Administrative expenses THAX (7,141) (9,921)
Finance costs BhE AR 12 (422) (485)
Loss before tax MREBLATE R 11 (37,769) (41,152)
Income tax credit FriefBiE e 13 - -
Loss and total comprehensive expense ZARQTEEAEEER

for the year attributable to owners EERZHEBAZEE

of the Company (37,769) (41,152)

HK cents HK cents
AL P

Loss per share BREE
— Basic —HK 15 (9.15) (10.92)
— Diluted —EH 15 (9.15) (10.92)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
,%,;'—: ’é‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% ;'-Ijt 5R %% For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E —Z _MF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EME —E-=fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FET FAET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Equity investments at fair value INAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss R AR & 17 6,276 6,611
Debt investments measured BEERATEZBBIRE
at amortised cost 18 32,845 17,223
39,121 23,834
Current assets REBEE
Equity investments at fair value AR EFABREZ
through profit or loss f& A& & 17 104,196 132,546
Debt investments measured BEERATEZBBIRE
at amortised cost 18 11,972 10,724
Other receivables, prepayments H b R GRIE - R RIE RIZS
and deposits 20 5,886 9,806
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMREeEEY 21 7,112 27,585
129,166 180,661
Current liabilities REEE
Amount due to brokers JES & 42 FRIA 22 6,218 5,017
Other payables and accruals HEA B RIB M ERE A 3,207 2,847
9,425 7,864
Net current assets REBEEFEE 119,741 172,797
Net assets EEFRE 158,862 196,631
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE

A MR R

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E==

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
b &t FHERT FET

Capital and reserves EXRGFHE
Share capital A& A 23 413 413
Reserves (Eke=] 158,449 196,218
Total equity T KR 158,862 196,631
Net asset value per share (in HK$) BREEFEET) 25 0.39 0.48

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024 and
signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee
BRE=
Director

EFE

REMBREAENR-_ZB-_WNEFA-+/\HEESS
HOERFBETZE WEHTIALTHRRES:

FONG On Shek
FEA

Director

EFE
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£ %

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiZ—Z-_NF=HA=+—HItFE

Capital Share
Share Share reduction option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
BRA ROEE KRAEHRE BRERS B8 BE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TiEx
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(K&t (a)) (M= (b)) (HtzE(c))
As at 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FMWA—H 413 963,164 112,657 9,715 (889,318) 196,631
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERYAE
expense for the year - - - - (37,769) (37,769)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZB-WE=A=+-H 413 963,164 112,657 9,715 (927,087) 158,862
Capital Share
Share Share reduction option  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
R RiEE BRAEREE - ERERE 2EE#E ksl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR FTET THT T TET
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(M5t (a)) (P7E (b)) (M7 (c))
As at 1 April 2022 RZE-Z—FMWA—H 325 937,046 112,657 7,853 (848,166) 209,715
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERYEE
expense for the year - - - - (41,152) (41,152)
Issue of shares upon exercise of REREETRRZTRR
share options 23 9,706 - (2,619) - 7,110
Issue of new shares under placing REREETHRG 65 16,412 - - - 16,477
Grant of share options RHERE - - - 4,481 - 4,481
As at 31 March 2023 RZB-=%(=A=+-H 413 963,164 112,657 9,715 (889,318) 196,631
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China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E R B OE &£ B B R 44 FA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
,é.ez_:\ é‘*gﬁ:_ﬁ % Ej] 43;:2 For the year ended 31 March 2024 B —ZE_FE=HA=+—HILFE

Notes:

(@) Share premium represents the difference between the par value of
the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the issuance
of the shares of the Company which is governed by the Cayman
Companies Law.

(b) Capital reduction reserve represents the net excess of proceeds on
reduction of share capital.

(c) Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to directors
and employee of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pt s B AR ARG 2 HEEETAR TR D (XH
ERFEMRE ) ERZABFIRZZRE -

B A BB B 4 BRI AR B TS SR TR BRI BB D o

BREREENASEEENEERB ZEBR LM
BEZMARITEBREZATE EREGAVB®RE
P 5E3H BE A BRI 48 B DA B ) R ETE 2 N RER M 2 & &5t
PR HER



2023/24 Annual Report
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,%',;'—: ’I%“ }E, ﬁ 5)2|f, % %% For the year ended 31 March 2024 B EZ —ZE_FE=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-IEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities LRETHRERE
Loss before tax B 56 A S 18 (37,769) (41,152)
Adjustments for: BATIER EE A
Interest income FE KA (5,051) (3,468)
Dividend income & B A (265) (124)
Interest expenses FEHE 422 485
Net realised loss/(gain) on disposal of HENAFEFABZEZ
listed equity investments at fair value ETRAKRE 2B &I
through profit or loss BiE (=) 358 45,662 (1,817)
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on listed equity A AFEF ABHEZ
investments at fair value through ERARE 2 REE
profit or loss (k&) BiEFE (13,201) 32,610
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity RAFEFABREZ
investments at fair value through JEETRAIEE v REIFEHIBFE
profit or loss 335 2,375
Impairment losses under expected FEHEEBEEEX THREEE
credit loss model, net of reversal (4 4Nk #E [E) 2,728 1,170
Equity-settled share-based payments AR E ARG B ER 2 X
expenses - 4,481
Operating loss before working LEESEHANKEEIE
capital changes (7,139) (5,440)
Purchase of equity investments at BEARATEFABEEREZRAKE
fair value through profit or loss (33,881) (190,602)
Proceeds from disposal of HEUNRAFEFABEEREZ
equity investments at fair value RAIEE 2 FTi55IA
through profit or loss 29,770 179,729
Purchase of debt investments BEREBHEAAFTEZEBRE
measured at amortised cost (18,000) (20,000)
Purchase of unlisted convertible bonds at B E A FEFABIZEREZ
fair value through profit or loss FEMAIRERES - (2,121)
Proceed of disposal of debt investment PERBHEKATFEZEBHREZ
measured at amortised cost T8 s A = 15,000
Decrease in other receivables, H fth B UCRTE ~ TEAT FRIE RIS R A
prepayments and deposits 6,273 22,143
Increase/(decrease) in margin payables ERRES 2N CRL) 1,201 (7,553)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  H i JE{ FIB K& fE:T &
accruals #n, CRd) 360 (586)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,%',;'—: é‘ IE, ﬁ ))%f, = %% For the year ended 31 March 2024 B EZ —Z _MF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-IEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Cash used in from operations KEEFTAMNIR S (21,416) (9,430)
Dividend received B R 265 124
Interest received B F & 1,100 2,940
Interest paid B FLE (422) (485)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEEFTAMNIR T (20,473) (6,851)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITBHRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares under R 1R BL & TR P15 RUIB
placing - 16,900
Proceeds from issue of shares upon BIBTEBREZEITRG
exercise of share options FT1S 308 - 7,110
Expenses in connection with issuance HETRNHEBENER
of shares - (423)
Net cash generated from financing activities Ft & /EENFTSHIIR & /F 58 - 23,587
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRESZEY (RD) ENFHE
cash equivalents (20,473) 16,736
Cash and cash equivalents at the RBEHRY RS RBEEEY
beginning of the reporting period 27,585 10,849
Cash and cash equivalents RESHRZEERASEEY
at the end of the reporting period 7,112 27,585
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRESEEYEHRDN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHE 5,066 24,655
Deposits at other financial institutions REAM S BUEE 273K 2,046 2,930

7,112 27,585




mEMBHRME

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 26 April 2002. The Company’s
shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 19
September 2002. The registered office of the Company is at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal office in Hong
Kong is at Room 1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are investment holding
and trading of securities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong
Kong dollar (HK$), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to
assets and liabilities arising
from a single transaction

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

Annual R rt
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

. In accordance with the amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, accounting

policy information that is standardised information,

or information that only duplicates or summarises
the requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered
immaterial accounting policy information and is no
longer disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements so as not to obscure the
material accounting policy information disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

. Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
HKSAR In June 2022, the HKSAR Government
enacted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which
will be effective from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Under the Amendment Ordinance, any
accrued benefits attributable to the employer’s
mandatory contributions under mandatory provident
fund scheme (“MPF Benefits”) of an entity would no
longer be eligible to offset against its obligations on
long service payment (“LSP”) for the portion of the
LSP accrued on or after the Transition Date. There
is also a change in the calculation basis of last
monthly wages for the portion of the LSP accrued
before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 April 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b) (the
“Practical expedient”) to account for the offsetable
MPF Benefits as deemed employee contributions
to reduce the current service costs in the period in
which the related services were rendered.

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
HERA ) 2B A (&)

(a) REFERHERZEBMBREER
ZIERT A (#R)
TXRAERRAREONT REETE
AR BREENNOEE R E:

c REBEAEHENFIRLBEVBR
EREAMERERE25E (BRTA) - BT
ELERLESELAMBEEVH R
HFERNBRH ST BRE R KRB IE
EREFERER TBEREA MR
KT HE NWRRBEHFAMBERR
MR RENERNGTBRRESR -

s HEHABAAERHERESHBEBELHEY
EHREEH - N _T-—_F XA 7
&S BT E (20224 B F & IE K
FFEED (BB L) (BRI
(MEETERMI]) BT -_RAFHA—
BReER ([EHR]) - RBEESETIESG -
BREMBFHMERATEETE ([BEeE
wm)BETREREMRFIMEEINEEN
MR ESZBETBTAEREHEE
REH B B 2FHNRARE: ([
HERES B RERBEEET-R
EHHNZFANRERB SIS HOR
B—EAIEMFEEENEMEH-

R-Z-ZFMA—H5 NEEER
EAGEHAERIZE195% 5£93(b) R AT 1T
EEAE(ATREERE]D #HAH
HEEeERIRARIEREHZ MU
BN REEEREHAMNE RS
PR AR o
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in HKSAR” (the “Guidance”)
which provides clarified and detailed guidance
on the accounting considerations relating to
the abolition of the offsetting mechanism. The
Guidance clarified that following the enactment
of the Amendment Ordinance, LSP is no longer
a “simple type of contributory plans” to which the
Practical expedient had been intended to apply. By
following the Guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply
the Practical expedient and reattribute the deemed
employee contributions on a straight line basis from
the date when services by employees first lead
to their benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in
accordance with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a). The
cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments
as of 31 March 2023 or for the year ended was
not material and hence no adjustment was made
to the beginning accumulated losses, or another
component of equity.

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
EEA ) 2B AR (&)

(a) REAFEERFER BB KRS ER
ZIEFT A (#]’)

RZTZZ=F+tH EFESFTMAE
BHHREFANERES - REBKRY
SRS g EE] ([#E3]]) -
HHEBEUSE RGN g E RIRM
B R A AR HI R Sl o BBl BB RMERT 1§
plEmE RERGSTHARERA
TREREN [EBEE RG] -
RIFES AEBMERESFKE A
THERMTRERE URESES
AT AE R 21957 5593(a) B - B 1R B IR TS
BREARBSEZAMEE NG ERE
2B UNEGEZENBERIEREH#
HBEZET_=F=A=+—H=xR
HEZALFE BRAZSAENZRG
MEWTEKXN W ERFY RETEE
E MRS BOIEL T AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants’

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(Revised) Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause!
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements'
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
EEA ) 2B AR (&)

(b) CEEMEERERZHATEBUBERS

HEARBEBUBBREEN ZBITER
AEBYEREFEATICHMERKE
MHA BBV BEREENRBBM B R
SRR ZERTA:

EAEFENEIR BEIERRDH
(EFTA) e

EAEFRENEIR MERENIFRD
SCHEN) aE

EBMBHREER ERHERNEEAE
£165% (BFTA)

BELEEST I BBRE - EFRA
(&&7T) HERFEEREN

HE B S 8

EREFENETHR H“ERRE R
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RRIETH (BRTE)

BEGHENE21E R A LA

(EFTA)

BENBREER REEBREBERRR
F0EREL G RELEZMHN
RERIF285E (BFIA) EEHEIIE

T ORZToNENA - BN ARRNEEE

EES

2 MRIZE-_RFNA A ZERABNFEH
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXREBHBRHBE

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange and by the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

RAVBHRROCREBTESHAMAGEMZER
HBEREEN R - IR GEEHBREME
HASEEAENERETREMEFLIRR
AEMERBRERER - WIN HBAVBTRRE
RHMRXMESF EMRM(TETRUDUAREE
REMGEOIREREERK ZBERIRE-

BTXAESTBRRMEEZARTFEAEE
ROTARFEFABRE]) ZRARER &SR
SR AFEFEN GEMBRRBREBESE
PRAE B -

BEELRA—RRBEZERERIBEETZKE
ZRAFEERE-

RTPERNAERHRTS2EBEZHZEFR
SHE-—BEEMKERRAEE-—RABMEX
NZER M mZERTENERBEEXER
S RBAERMET - WHmHE2EERFER S
HEEXRBEEEREEREELRBEZIRE
AAEERNGEFEERABZATERSEEX
SR - ZEGAVBBRTEAER ARE
Rgz R AFEDREEEETE EBEFBMER
SENE2R (IR AR EE 2RO NRR S
REFEVHRELENFIGEARZIEER S
ARBERAFERLYBUL T ELIFAFEZF
E(MBEBEFENFE2R [FHE] 2 #RFE
HEB G ERFEIST [EERME] 2EREE)
AIBR o
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

EREHHEME ()

RRATEXZNEMIAEARREZABGE

RNHERER T BREABR 2 HERTNHE -
RS & F LARR IE DA B ¥ 46 T 52 B £ (B il 2
BREZZERBS-

o REMBRETE RTFATENEZHA

Bz TBERERATEIE2BAEHALE

YEERTE ATESETSEAE M 5
SRAE=HHHEEOT

- B-RBAENERBRAERHRUESE
MEREEXABRIERTIS T HRARL
HEERE:

- BoRBAEDNBRE-MFAZREN B
EERAEVERIFRBREZ2BAE K

- BZRBAEDNEERRBEZIAUEREH
NI

BETHRHIIWMT -

FERBEEE

HAaMBHRREBBARARERN ZERZME

BR-BEARAERTINER  AEEZE G :

- BAEHWRERRZES:

. A2 EWIEE RN mAEFE0R @R
HEZHERN: K&
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not they control an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding amount at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING EXASFTHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)

Leases He

Definition of a lease HENES

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%",;'—: ’I%“ E\ZI' f['% $E %% MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiZ—Z-_NF=HA=+—HItFE
3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs BERAE
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the FrEBERAREEHMETBREPER -
period in which they are incurred.
Employee benefits EBEEF
Retirement benefit costs B K5 F A
Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Mt AEEFE ([REIMABERTE])IE
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees BTN EERHREMAEEZE ZSHAF
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. WRAEMXL -
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are BEaEMtAESTE EERAEEAZER
each required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% E BB ABSY% A& 6 14 AE S8
of the employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly B AEBEKR AR ERA30,000% 7T - o8 5l 1A
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF BatElMWERERERE -
Scheme vest immediately.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the REBEMNEEHRR MR GIERTE ST EHRE
employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. The Group EERBRES -ASEE W EZUCRIKS 5T EI#
has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e. ROAMEEEZSEHAFEBAINREKE R L ZTE
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the WEERBEOHK) KT _WF=A=1—
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such H AEBERERAKRSTE T ELIRHERTAR
contributions). As at 31 March 2024, no forfeited contribution MBR AR IREE B B K-
under the pension scheme of the Group is available for
deduction of contribution payable in coming years.
Short-term employee benefits HHIESEF
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the REAEERAMNEERERERRETHINZ
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as Bz KRR CEER - FTBEEESRAER
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term AR BRISEBTEVBRELENE KK 4
employee benefits are recognised as expense unless another BB BEMAAEERA - BIERIR
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in BEDHEERBEHBABMC IERFEERR
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service BzEREME XM 2Bz KRR e E Y

is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits BREBZEBAETHER
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%",;'—: ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $E %% IZTTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiZ—Z-_NF=HA=+—HItFE
3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Taxation HIE
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently FriSHiA 88 BENTIE R IE 2 2% -
payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the EHENMEBREFAERTENGTE - ERT
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported A EBERNZ2®R e [BREAEE] TR TS
in the profit or loss because of income or expense that RE M E 2 ERRB sk AT B U A 352 HH A fe B
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are BERBKAAMB 2IBEE - AEEE AFIE
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current BENREHARCHMIEL LEB/H 2B R
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or Bo
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences BREBBERBGAMBREEERABZRE S
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the BEARGEERARAT N 2 HERE ZH 2R
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax EBER—MRBEAZT ANEBEGHMAER
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax MEURNZHEERECRIEAE TEEAERRE
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary R A A AT S AT AR R = R R B AT A AT
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised BMERNEZEBRAECNBEEE NEREZHEEA
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is MPEREBIHEERVEANREEN 2R
probable that taxable profits will be available against which GZEMEERBEMEL ATERIAREE

those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such ERBE-
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets

and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable

profit nor the accounting profit.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING EAXSTHERE (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued) HIE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ —Z -NF=f=+—HItFE
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%éﬂjﬁ%ﬁ% MT_I'EI For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ= — T - F=A=+—HI-FE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIA (&)
Financial assets (continued) HHEE (&)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial HHEEN S ERAE]E (F)
assets (continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at BRI BEEREUATEFABRENZ
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a MEHIERFBEEEZ B WRAKE L IEHF
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present EEEREMEWRETNE BB REERES
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment SREBEUFTEACEBAMHPEROALE
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment RIS E A g8 & N Al BdE & B0 H ) 2 | W s
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration FE2IZBAEEATFENEEES-
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
A financial asset is held for trading if: HBEER TIBELRIFIEEE:
« it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling s WENFEZEEMNANEHELERS X
in the near term; or
«  on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of s RYEERARBRAEBAHEEND #
identified financial instruments that the Group manages e T AN —Er WABIBER
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term EHEMER 5
profit-taking; or
« it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a «  WIHEREERBEREHFTAMITETE.
hedging instrument.
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial I S+ 7 £ [ B AR A S b — T8 28 $E 5 8 B AR
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost FIEEREZAFEFAEMEARRFTENT B
or FVOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or BENRAFEFTABRESE AIRAEHEET

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. AEBR S RER D G R
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REMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net unrealised loss on listed/unlisted equity
investments at FVTPL” and “net realised loss on disposal
of listed equity investment at FVTPL’ line items.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H#EZ —Z-NF=fF=+—HILtFE
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,%",;'—: ’I%“ /E\ZI' f['% $ﬁ %% MTJ' %I For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ —Z -NF=f=+—HItFE
3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIA (&)
Financial assets (continued) HHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets HEEERE
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected AEBRBEBEBEHEEBE (HBHEEEBE]RE
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including debt XYM BEE (BERBHENTFE2EBIRE -
investments measured at amortised cost, other receivables HEmEWRIERZS REMSREENRITLE
and deposits, bank balances and deposits at other financial R R AF ) EITRE Eﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁmé‘ﬁgﬁéi%ﬁﬁ(\‘
institutions). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting EHMEEBMEN URBEERR S VIBEERL
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. R E o
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all THEHEEEEERE T AEBMFHAMET
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant BRECEBNSEHMELEZEREEBE BR -
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents 122EAREHREEBFE (2B AEHEEHRE])
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from EEFRBEAMEI2EARNAEEAENENE
default events that are possible within 12 months after the HEHMI S 2 HEREEBE M IRER
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s SERAEERBERET YREFZARFER
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are Z BELHERAAERNRE BB ZBE R R
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an AR AR TR 2 AR AR -
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
For all financial assets at amortised cost, the Group MATERBHEN AT EZHBEEMS  AEE
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when AERERNEREBEERENEERE K
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since FEVEERAREERBEE LA AEEA
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The HREHERAEEFEBE THETEZEREH
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is ?EHHTZf)TJEHTEE%EAW#‘EEWMXiii’JT%’li{jZ
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a [E B A HIREE FF -
default occurring since initial recognition.
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (i) 1§f)?ﬂ5ﬁ§§§i n
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased RTEEERAREVEERANRETEE
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares K - ANEE @ = tb%‘i’*ﬁ’\\#ﬁi HEi¢@mTIA
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument BEBHAONRRENVGERDHSHRT
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default BEBREEANRR -RIELBBTEE K
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of SEeZREAERASEZEERNEEER
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group BEATLBRLEEANEHAIVERALS
considers both quantitative and qualitative information NERESZATEEER -

that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%éﬂjﬁﬁ% MT_I'EI For the year ended 31 March 2024 H#EZ —Z-NF=fF=+—HILtFE

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiZ—Z-_NF=HA=+—HItFE
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REMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIA (&)
Financial assets (continued) HHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) B EERE ()
(iv) Write-off policy (iv) HEBEE
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is EEENBETR U FAFAEREMBG RS
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe N # FHR AT U] 75 22 - AR B = 8 B %
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of BE-BREAEEKRDEFTZEREEZES
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject (WEA)  EMEM B EE RN BIFE
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery EE)Z HR o —IEIMSH AN — B IR
procedures, taking into account legal advice where o EMEBWEIHNEZPHER -
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) EHEEEENGIEEER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability AEEAEEERRIGEENME EYD
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the BAE(MEANBHBELAEE) REHER
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. IER -STEBAOMERENEBRETIAER
The assessment of the probability of default and loss AT M ERETHENRE L BIE - EHE
given default is based on historical data adjusted by B S5 18 A 5T I B 1R BE K2 8T 3R 0 e
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects EH IR eV MR PR A Rl B T 22 5E -
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all —RmEs FEHEEBEABREANENAK
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in SENMBENESREHAEEEEK
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that W B 3% 97 16 7 58 B 76 5 /O B R R 3R BE IR Y
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective RenEZHERE-
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Lifetime ECL for certain other receivables are considered ETHMERREBEZz2HEREEBFERL
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due ZRAMEN RATEERELEE RS

information and relevant credit information such as BEEEHEERBEBEEER.
forward looking macroeconomic information.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including margin payables, other payables
and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institution, and short-term liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties
include a person and entity as defined below:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(ii) either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any

of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; or

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contingent assets/liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of
economic benefits to the Group and they are not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits
will arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related
income in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Classification of investments in unlisted equity
securities

Certain investments in unlisted equity securities are not
classified as an associate nor accounted for using equity
method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In the
opinion of the directors, the Group has no significant influence
over those investments since the Group and each of the
investee entered into a relevant agreement to conclude the

followings:

—  the Group did not have any representative on the board
of directors or equivalent governing body of those
investments;

—  the Group did not participate in policy-making processes,
including participation in decisions about dividends or
other distributions; and

—  the Group did not interchange any managerial personnel
with those investments.

As the Group did not act to fulfill any one of the issues stated
above, it does not consider as having significant influence on
the investments. Hence, those investments are not considered

as the associate of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk in measurement of
ECL

As explained in note 3, the Group monitors all financial assets
that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Company will measure the loss allowance based on
lifetime rather than 12m ECL. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased
the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information with
significant judgments involved. Information that will be taken
into account when assessing whatever there is significant
increase in credit risks are set out in “Impairment of financial
assets” in note 3 and note 6.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the
Company determines the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for fair value measurements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
For instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, the Group engages independent professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Company
works closely with the independent professional valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management of the Company reports the
valuation findings to the board of directors of the Company to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation technique that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7 provides
detailed information about the valuation technique, inputs and
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
various assets and liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost
based on the credit risk of the respective financial instrument.
The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected
future credit loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk and therefore expected cash
flows of the respective financial instrument involves a high
degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or more than expected,
a material impairment charges or a material reversal of
impairment charges may arise, accordingly. The information
about the ECL on the financial assets at amortised cost are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

In response to the requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors of
the Company is responsible in developing and maintaining the
processes for measuring ECL including monitoring of credit
risk, incorporation of forward looking information and the
method used to measure ECL; and ensuring that the Group
has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain
and validate models used to assess and measure ECL.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group employs external valuer who use external and
internal information to generate scenario of future forecast
of relevant economic variables. The internal and external
information used includes the historical data of the Group
and economic data and forecasts published by governmental
bodies and monetary authorities respectively. Accordingly,
when measuring ECL the Group selects and uses reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information available without
undue cost or effort in its assessment, which is based on
assumptions and estimates for the future movement of
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect
each other as well as the correlation.

Measurement of ECL

Probability of default (“PD”) constitutes a key input in
measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of
default over a given time horizon, the calculation is based
on reasonable and appropriate statistical rating models
selected by the management with judgments. These statistical
models are based on market data (where available), as
well as internal data comprising both quantitative and
qualitative factors which includes historical data, assumptions
and expectations of future conditions. The management
gathers this information and adjust the data to reflect
probability-weighted forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue cost or
effort.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Loss Given Default (“LGD”) is an estimate of the loss
arising on default. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect to receive. In assessing the lifetime ECL on
credit-impaired financial assets classified as stage 3, the
Group performs the assessment based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
specific to the debtors or borrowers, general economic
conditions and both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions with
significant judgments involved. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce
material differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

Details information with regard to the exposure to credit risk
and ECLs are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. @I A
Categories of financial instruments EHMIBECAE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REHR SEemIAZEARBNT:
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Financial Financial
Financial assets at  liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
NATE REHERE REHRE
SFABRRER TEZ HEZ
ZHBEE MEEE HHAE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
2024 —E-NE
Debt investments measured at amortised cost &%1&15@%&%21 BiRE = 44,817 = 44,817
Equity investments at FVTPL NFEFABEEZRARE 110,472 - - 110,472
Other receivables and deposits ,M;&iuﬂzm&% - 5,854 - 5,854
Cash and cash equivalents BeRhHeEEY = 7,112 = 7,112
110,472 57,783 - 168,255
Amount due to brokers EREL - - 6,218 6,218
Other payables and accruals Eﬁﬂﬂﬁ/ IE&BE%%FH = = 3,207 3,207
- - 9,425 9,425
Financial Financial
Financial assets at liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
WATE  REEKE REHRA
FABER FEZ HEZ
LHBEE HMBEE HBBE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEL FTEL FTHEL FTAEL
2023 ZEC=f%
Debt investments measured at amortised cost ?;zf%ﬁ#]fﬁiKﬁrgﬂ BiRE - 27,947 - 27,947
Equity investments at FVTPL AFEFABERZRARE 139,157 - - 139,157
Other receivables and deposits Jﬂm&wﬁ&ﬁi - 9,787 - 9,787
Cash and cash equivalents ReLkBeEED - 27,585 - 27,585
139,157 65,319 - 204,476
Amount due to brokers RS - - 5,017 5,017
Other payables and accruals ,Jﬁlh‘%‘\ﬁ/ I,E&JE?EJREE% - - 2,847 2,847
_ - 7,864 7,864
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at FVTPL, debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, other payables and accruals, and margin
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies applied by the Group to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as the all of its transactions are denominated in HKS$,
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the bank balances carried at floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have a hedge policy against the
interest rate exposure. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider the hedging significant
interest rate exposure as needed.

Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest
rate risk of bank balances, which are short term in nature, is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group’s equity price risk relates to equity price changes
arising from listed securities held for trading stated in listed
equity investments at FVPL. The Group’s listed securities held
for trading are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy
and sell listed securities are rested with assigned investment
managers and governed by specific investment guidelines.
The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities operating in 3 (2023: 4) sectors quoted in the Stock
Exchange.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

If the price of the respective investments held by the Group
as listed equity investments at FVTPL were higher or lower
by 5% as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 5%), the Group’s loss for
the year ended 31 March 2024 would decrease or increase by
approximately HK$5,210,000 (2023: HK$6,627,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, bank balances
and deposits at other financial institutions. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets under ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

Debt investments measured at amortised cost

The Group invested in unlisted bonds issued by listed
companies in Hong Kong which exposed to credit risk.
The credit risk of debt investments is managed through an
internal process. The credit quality of each counterparty is
investigated before an advance is made. The Group also
actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed by the issuer
and uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group actively
monitors the outstanding amounts owed by each debtor and
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.

Credit risk for deposits at other financial institutions
is considered as not material taking into account the
good market reputations and high credit ratings of the
counterparties.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H#EZ —Z-NF=fF=+—HILtFE

eWMIA (&)
1= & 3 B 2 ORi B R Al ()
RITHBRREME BB FH

HREFHTRAEEREEFEKE U&%mf%
HEMEBRIFZRIT WRTESRZEER
B ZIS‘E@ﬁ%*ﬁ‘ﬁ%l\%ﬁﬁ,\afrﬁ&%%%ﬁﬁé’]
HEGEFRERNENHXRIBLRNER 3
1&7%&17,“nﬁ%2121lﬂ?E,HMZTJEETE°$E'<TI“?¢’J
BREK - RITEKRZIEARREEFERIR
R BB

REEHFHTRENTHBERSEEIFL R
HsBEBTFRINEERREER/SLTEKN

AEBNABEERBRFRFHEEATER:

Internal Financial assets
credit rating Description at amortised cost
REBERATEN
AEMEEFTR it MBEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 12m ECL
any past-due amounts
1K = bz HFEANENRBEE  WEEAEPEE 128 AR BEEEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full 12m ECL
BuELs BEHRALERINPREBEN BRE2HENE 12 BB HIEE BB
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since Lifetime ECL —
initial recognition through information developed internally not credit-impaired
or external resources
7 &t BAABINIBERGHNER  TRIBVIFRBUARGCERAREZIEN 2PEHEEHE-
BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
BX BREBEXPAZEECHREERE >HEREEEE -
BEERIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off

1 55

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

BFRBRABBARNBEENMHERELANEEY BEROKDE RS

s S
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TWMIHE(H)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERBRREENE (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFINAEBEETEREEBERIHNT B
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL BEMEERR :
assessment:
2024 2023
—E-ME —ETo=F
Gross Gross
External Internal carrying Loss carrying Loss
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount  allowance
128528
HABEETR ABEETR BEHFEESR REAE BRERE HKOLE BREEB

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TRT TRT

Financial assets
at amortised cost

BREMATENTEEE
Debt investments measured N/A Low risk 12m ECL
at amortised cost 54,468 9,651 33,866 5,919
RERRAHEZEBRE A 1R b 12fEAEREEEE
Other receivables and deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL 25 - 4,524 786
HibERTIER RS A 1 B 12{8 A 7B H
EEEE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired 19,726 13,897 20,164 14,115
A e PHENEERS
-BIEERE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired 300 300 300 300
Nl IEFS PHENEEESR
—{EEHE
Bank balances A2 or above N/A 12m ECL 5,066 - 24,655 -
RITHE R A2 LA E TEA 128 A 7B H
EEEE
Deposits at other financial N/A Low risk 12m ECL
institutions 2,046 - 2,930 -
REMSBBENTR A [igENs 1218 A2 H

EEER
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

6. 2RI H(E)
FERRERETME (&)
TRIRERIZEBHR A B B EERR

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances

that has been recognised for financial assets measured at BIERE 2K
amortised cost:
Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 Lifetime Lifetime
12m ECL ECL ECL Total
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
M &1 :1:) M &3
128 A 2HES 2H%ES
FEER FEER FEFAR @t
(BEEHE) (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THT TET
As at 1 April 2022 RZZE-_FMA—H 7,232 12,418 300 19,950
Changes due to financial instruments ERAREHIAESY
recognised: 25
Impairment losses recognised ERAREEE 4,434 1,697 - 6,131
Impairment losses reversal REBERE (4,961) - - (4,961)
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-E-=Z#=ZfA=+—-HK
—“E--F#1A—H 6,705 14,115 300 21,120
Changes due to financial instruments ERARNSHMIAEEL
recognised: 2‘@1
Transfer to lifetime ECL BRE2HRHEEFRE (786) 786 - -
Impairment losses recognised ERAREEE 3,732 - - 3,732
Impairment losses reversal BEEBEEE - (1,004) - (1,004)
As at 31 March 2024 R-Z-_ME=A=+-AH 9,651 13,897 300 23,848
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. €I HE(HE)
Liquidity risk REBESERE
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group are unable to meet RBECRBRIERAEERY KA E D B Rk
their payment obligations associated with its financial THEMKEBERENRETZRAR KNEBESE
liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk BERTEZRBEARBEERReREEAR
by maintaining adequate reserves, as well as continuously ERFenNEERRHDESEMR -
monitoring cash flow forecast and actual cash flows.
In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and HERREE S R i ?’ZS%.H%IEQ&LQ/E
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents that is SEVEEREFSNREEERARAZKE-
adequate in management discretion. In formulating their f%@?t%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂqﬂd%ﬁ%$%@i«‘%/éiﬁZmﬂﬁ
strategy, management would consider the financing of the J«)(&W%‘}E@J&&’ézfﬁw//\LEZ&EEV’
Group’s operations and the effects of fluctuation in operating ZEME=A=+—H && lZmu@Jﬁf_E
and investing cash flows. As at 31 March 2024, the liquidity DEUARBEE R R EME L EEMANEeRE
of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain WEHEEREREETEINHEHBREBEE KRS RS
adequate cash flows from operations and to raise funds WEITRECEMROETEE -
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations and investment project opportunities as they fall
due or arise.
The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the AEBEMBAERRERRZBT AL —
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which FAIRERKEE(ZZ_=F: —FRAxRK
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the ERRER) (REAORURBEERERLTE
earliest date that the Group can be required to pay, are within BASNHREzEZFHBRAE) -

one year or on demand (2023: within one year or on demand).
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7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENT

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had following
financial instruments carried at fair value all of which
are based on the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair

value hierarchy:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE

7. RVERE

(i)

NERERUATEFEZAEEHK
EERAYE

RZE_NEFR-ZZ_=F=A=+—1"
AEEBUTSRMIAE HEAFEER
EXE R FZRREZFARFEANE:

2024 2023
—E-MEF —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
Level 1: B
Financial assets at FVTPL NAFEFABZECVBEE
— listed equity investments — FRAERE 104,196 132,546
Level 3: i
Financial assets at FVTPL NAFEFABRRZUMBEE
— unlisted equity investments —JEEMRAEKE 6,276 6,611
110,472 139,157

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the

transfer.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

AEBZBRRBEEMHHLEE ARSI
BREERAEHEARIZ=_ERINZEA
N -

REBETUKEELRVBERETDUE R
EHRRZ A FEFE TRETBEZEH
BEERYBERZATENAEE (AL
& AEAGERTRBARE) ZEH-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiZ—Z-_NF=HA=+—HItFE

7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)

Financial assets

HBEE

Unlisted equity investments
classified as equity
investments at FVTPL

AERNRATEFAEERZ
BAREZF EIRARS

Listed equity investment
classified as equity
investments at FVTPL

ARRARTEH N BRER
ZIRAREZ ERARE

2023/24 Annual Report
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. AVEEE (H)
() NEEERUQAFEABZAEEME

£ %

EEATE(&H)
Relationship of
Fair value  Valuation Significant unobservable
2024 2023 hierarchy  technique(s) unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FABR
Y| BAgER
“E-ME ZTZ=F QAYEER  fERN BEGAHE NYEZHE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THRT TR
6,276 6,611 Level 3 Discount cash flow with future  Free cash flow The higher of the free
cash flows that are estimated cash flow, the higher
based on expected recoverable of the fair value, vice
amounts, discounted at rates versa
that reflect management’s best
estimation of the expected risk
level
6,276 6611 £=4 ARBeRERERPTLNELE emRLRE BRRSREBK AT
fREHNERRENE NRRY BEX RZAA
EREHRARBKT 251
fhEt 2z L EER
Discounted rate that ~ The higher of the
correspond to the discount rate, the
expected risk level lower of the fair value,
vice versa
BeBgRRKTz HRXEA ATE
HRx B R A
104,196 132,546 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A N/A
market
104,196 132,546 £~ EETMHEAR TER TER

In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity

investments, the management of the Company work

closely with International Valuation Limited to establish

the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the

model. The management of the Company reports the

findings to the directors at the end of each reporting

period to explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value.

B E LR AREN A FER  ARFE
2 g BB A B R AR B0 E #EE
EHERMEZRAZBARE ARAE
BEEREREPRAESERBTALER N
BEATERSZRE-

137



138 China Investment and Finance Group Limited

H

R B & & B 8 R »~ 37

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

,@",;'—: ’é‘“ E\Z" f['% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AVEE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBUK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAFYE (&)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements EZRAFEAEHRE

Unlisted equity
securities
classified
as equity

investments at

FVTPL

PEAULNFE

FTABREZ

BEREZ

FLETBRAES

HK$’000

FHET

As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—_FMA—H 15,486

Disposal & (6,500)
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AT EFABREZIFELTRARE 2

investments at FVTPL REREEFE (2,375)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HERZE-_=ZFNMA—H 6,611
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AT EFABRREZELMRAKRE Z

investments at FVTPL RER BT (335)

As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_ME=A=+—H 6,276

Of net unrealised loss on unlisted equity investments at RUATFEFABREZIFLTRAKE

FVTPL, all (2023: all) relates to unlisted equity securities ZAEREBEFREF 2 (T -=4F:
classified as equity investments at FVTPL held at the EH)IHEAREARFENIERBUQT
end of the current reporting period. Bt \BEalR 2 BRAEKE 2 LETRAFE

»EE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiZ—Z-_NF=HA=+—HItFE

7. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. RA¥EFTE (&)
(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at (i) XFEAAFEFEZEMIAZATE

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets RZEZMFR=ZFEZ=F=A=+—H

and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March

B SHR ARSI SR AN KB B EE KT H
BEZEREEREAAFEMREEAZR &

2024 and 2023 due to their short-term maturities. AR AR R Ef -
8. REVENUE 8. W&

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REEZKRZATOT :
2024 2023
—E-E —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET

Revenue: g

Dividend income from equity investments

AR FEFABRGERZBEARE

at FVTPL Z BB A 265 124

Interest income from debt investments REBENATEZEBREZ
at amortised cost B U A 3,702 2,622
Interest income from other receivables o th i 3R IE 2 LB MR A 1,349 846
Interest income from brokers &4 2 FILE A 1 —*
Interest income from bank accounts IRITRERZ M B U A 1 —*
5,318 3,592

*

Amount less than HK$1,000

* ZEETE 1,000 T
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10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
revenue and results were mainly derived from the interest
income and dividend income from investment holding. The
executive director, being the chief operation decision maker,
considers that these activities constitute one and the only
business segment since these transactions are subject to
common risks and returns. The executive directors monitors
the operating results of its investment business as a whole
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the
Group’s business was operated as a single segment, it is
not considered meaningful to provide an operating segment
analysis of financial performance.

Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosure, major customers and
geographical information are presented.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, all activities
of the Group are based in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
geographical analysis of revenue and assets is presented.

Information about major customers
Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment
holding, there was no information regarding major customers

as determined by the Group.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H#EZ —Z-NF=fF=+—HILtFE

/'\ﬁBﬁ“
HE_Z-_MFR-_Z_=F=A=+—HIL*#F
- AREE &%iiIEPKQTxﬁT {8 2 F 8
WARRBWA -ITES (EELERK %)
RE BRZEXFIEZERBERERDRZR - At
ZERDERNE-—NE—EBH A - RITEFE
REBRBREAEBIREEBEUNERER R R
KB AEFHAT ERAEELEE —H Y
¥BME BRMBRRREHEESLITESR
TR e

Hit Z27ERFE T2EPRIBEEHR -

ih & & B
REZ-Z-_NEFR-_Z-_=F=A=+—HIt
FE - AEBERBEBAREBET MAKE
ZHBEREITRERE Bt MEZ23KE K
BEMMEDTER -

ERTEEFNESR
ENAEERLEEBUEENRERER RAEHE
BE ARBEYERBIERPHNER -

10. AHEEBFEREXTHRERSE (B

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BRIEME)
2024 2023
—E-IF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FAET
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) on BATIEB#ER (D) ZREEIS:
— Other receivables — E b jE W3k IA (1,004) 2,483
— Debt investments measured *iﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁkzﬁﬁriz
at amortised costs BBIRE 3,732 (1,313)
2,728 1,170

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

BB RT il 5 B BT L6 ©
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11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 1. REATE 8

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Loss before tax has been arrived at B AT B IR T AR (BT A)
after charging/(crediting): ILTIEB&REH:
Directors’ remunerations ExMe
— Fees —e 1,020 940
— Basic salaries and other benefits —EXH e REMET - 80
— Retirement benefits scheme —RK@AIEE - 4
— Equity-settled share-based payments —AREEE AR D BER Z AR - 940
Total directors’ remunerations BEEWE 1,020 1,964
Staff costs = D%
— Basic salaries and other benefits —EXFeREMET 675 591
— Equity-settled share-based payments —UREEEARD BER 2R - 3,541
— Retirement benefits scheme —RK@AIFHE 19 25
Total staff costs 48 TR
(excluding directors’ remunerations) (TEREESZHE) 694 4,157
Auditors’ remuneration % BRI B & 480 480
Equity-settled share-based payments VARG R4S E AR (0 B E T 2 (S 3K
(included in directors’ remunerations and (EEREELiEEe R
staff costs above) BINA) - 4,481
Investment manager fee WERIEER 720 720
Expenses related to short-term lease EHEEEBERX 90 90
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12.

13.

FINANCE COSTS

\/|
7

Interest on margin financing wholly %

i3
]
i N

e
m;
i

A e
k> &

oy
ko

repayable on demand

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE

12. @E KA
2024 2023
—EME —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FHT
422 485

INCOME TAX CREDIT

No provision for the Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group either incurred tax loss or has no assessable profit
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
Hong Kong Profits Tax as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

13. FiIBSHER

BT _NFER_T-_=F=ZA=+—BItHF
B BARASEYEELEHEEETERGRER
Foad MU EEHEEFNSHEE-

REEEBFEHZFEHMAS FEARNE
& 48 52,000,000 7T 89 5 FI 49 B & 58.25%
i i 82,000,000 7T & 4 F1| 89 7 & £16.5% © T
FENESHMAFNERNEEER SR GEER
B — B R16.5% B4 »

EXZRRERBTANEHR ZMEH ML &
ZEREREMBRRYBEEABRE MEFE
MBS IR AR ERTUE M 216.5% &
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss

2023/24 Annual Report
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ —Z -NF=f=+—HItFE

13. FIBHER (&)

Profits Tax in which the Company and its subsidiaries are T~

domiciled is as follows:

F R

FERBHATRAAR R REME QB M

before tax using the statutory tax rate for the Hong Kong T4 BB RSB 2 04 E B3 B R B A1 & 18 49 AR a0

2024 2023

—E-@OF —Eo=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Loss before tax B 156 A 5 18 (37,769) (41,152)

Tax at the statutory tax rate REEMERFE ZHIA (6,232) (6,790)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MBI A 2 B2

for tax purposes 3,113 7,862

Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBWAZ BB E (3,798) (825)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERUBEERB IR ETE 6,917 -
Utilisation of tax loss previously AR AER BB EE

not recognised - (247)

Tax credit for the year

FEHRBEAR -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$513,353,000 (2023:

RRER AEEHERBAIEERR M Z KE
B84 /45513,353,00008 0 (- T — =4

HK$471,430,000) available for offset against future profits. 471,430,000/ 7T ) © (3 FA K 2R s M) % B A T8 A4 -

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses for both years due to the unpredictability of future

profits streams. All unrecognised tax losses may be carried

forward indefinitely.

B ERZMEFENBRBERIETCHES
E-MBARERNH BRI AERAEE

143



144

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

=s)

M E & B B R »~ 7

5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRME

14.

15.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2024,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2023: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$37,769,000 (2023: HK$41,152,000) and the weighted
average number of 412,597,000 (2023: 376,686,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2024 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options since their assumed exercise would
result in a decrease in loss per share for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2024.

14.

15.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H#EZ —Z-NF=fF=+—HILtFE

Hﬁzu\

HE-_Z-_NWF=A=+—HBLEFE IERX
NG éLHXHX%;ﬂE,{#EXE R TIR R BlREH
REWEEZRNTABRE(ZE_=F &) -

BREE

BRERRBEEBBDBIEAAR KA AEWL
&5 1837,769,000/ ;T (=T = = 4 : 41,152,000
BRI RAFEDRTETRRME FIIH
412,597,000% ( — & — = 4 : 376,686,000/% ) &+

i
(=1
B

HHEEREE_Z_=FR-_ZT-_MF=A=+—H
LEFE ) B AR B E B 18 I R AR A1 A B AR A
EiTE AABRRAEETEHEREE_T_=
FR-ZZF-_NE=ZA=+—RIEFENERER
e
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mEMBHRME

16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383 of

16. EEREEBREHFEEMS

REFEL2AKGN(ENBE-_T=_28)%F

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and the TANTZKRERAR (BRESHZER) R
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of (BRBEZTZGE )REZES=SHMO T
Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as follows:
(a) Directors (a) EE
The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable by the EEEARRAIERN M ETOT
Company during the years are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —ECZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Fees we
Executive director WITES 360 280
Non-executive directors FUITESF 300 300
Independent non-executive directors B FFHTTEE 360 360
1,020 940
Other emoluments E b B
Basic salaries and other benefits EXRF e RHEMEFR - 80
Equity-settled share-based AR #E 4 AR (0 A E T 2 T
payments - 940
Retirement benefits scheme RORAE B E - 4
- 1,024
1,020 1,964

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments

and no emoluments were paid to the directors as

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office during the year (2023: nil).

FRALTEEEREXRABERETMME - 75
BREEXNMS ARSI BEMBEREE
SERMBRzZSIBERBE (T ==
FE) e
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EER T ERSHEEME (&)
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (a) E=(#&)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2023: ENSERTFARB(ZEZ=F  "B)ESE
six) directors are as follows: EBEZHE0T:
2024 2023
SBCME “ZCCF
Basic Equity-
salaries settled Retirement
and other  share-based benefits Total Total
Fees benefits payments scheme  emoluments emoluments
DRE&E
£x5¢  RiAE BRI

we  REMREN  RZAR BHHE Hel®  HoEsm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
L L L L TER L

Executive director BITES

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZEE 360 - - - 360 834
Non-executive directors kHTES

Mr. Wu Qi REXE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Fong On Shek HEREE 180 - - - 180 650
Sub-total It 300 - - - 300 770

Independent non-executive directors BUkYTES

Mr. Luk Simon ERZEE 120 - - - 120 120
Ms. Liu Xiaoyin ABEat 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Hon Leung BREE 120 - - - 120 120
Sub-total 1N 360 - - - 360 360

Total ek 1,020 - -

1,020 1,964
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16.
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued)
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for
the executive director are generally emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2023: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2023: three) individuals were as follows:

ExnTEBaHEENS (&)

(a) E= (&)
XNFRTEEZH S RMNEVDNER
AZEALTRBEBARBTRENE QA
ZEBER 2 EAMIRG M — RS R EW
ZME -

(b) EEREHESR
AEEBREHERHREEFR ME(ZE==
FMB)ARRABES HS 2 HMN Lt
DM -HEB=ZF(ZTZ=F:=ZF)AAZ
BT

2024 2023

—E_NE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FB T FiET

Basic salaries and other benefits EAXFE RHMEF 579 36
Retirements benefits scheme ROKEF T2 19 -
Equity-settled share-based payments  LAR% 1 45 & LARR 15 A EMR 2 3K - 1,328
598 1,364

The number of the highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T

URTIMeHE s RS HESABLT

2024 2023
—E_NF =
3 3

No emoluments were paid to these individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office for the year (2023: Nil).

RAF[Z - I 8 A5 B A SN B AR 5
BEMBARAEBERFERMBR 2 RE KB
BAE(—F_=F:8)-
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. LAFEFABRERZBREARE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Non-current R B
Unlisted equity investments outside BEBEBINZIE LR E
Hong Kong 6,276 6,611
Current HE
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong B2 ERAIEE 104,196 132,546
110,472 139,157

The fair values of these listed securities are determined
based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each
reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount
of approximately HK$9,066,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$18,206,000) to secure margin payables as disclosed in
note 22.

As at 31 March 2024, the net fair value gain in respect of the
Group’s Hong Kong listed investments recognised in profit
or loss amounted to approximately HK$13,201,000 (2023:
loss of HK$32,610,000), and a net loss of approximately
HK$45,662,000 (2023: net gain of HK$1,817,000) was
recognised upon disposal of the listed equity investments for
the year.

The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments
at the date of approval of these financial statements was
approximately HK$89,535,000.

ZE LM ERZAFEDREGEREHRZ R
MHEAEEE - MM 22 E - A EE K
RZEZNF=A=+—HZKEEL9,066,000
oL (ZE Z =4 18,206,000 L) 2 & T A
FEFABZER VB EEFERT (EREMRF
T 2B Mo

RZE-_NE=ZA=Z+—HA AEBERIER
MRZEBLMEBEZAFERZFENA
13,201,000 7T (=& = = 4 : [§51832,610,000
B) RREANHELTRAREERERER
JF #E #4945,662,0008 7 (—Z T — = F : Wz F 5
1,817,000/ 7T ) °

Rt EZEMBRR A AEEZ EHRA
& 2 A4 7389,535,000/% 7T



Annual R rt
2023/24 @ ;poﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Details of principal unlisted equity securities held by the
Group which are also included in the list of the 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 2023, as
disclosed in note 19, are as follows:

Place/country of Percentage of
Name of investee incorporation/ effective
companies establishment Number of share held interest held
HfAL/
ERENEER AUty /B3R FERM#A FEEREZEAM

2024 2023 2024 2023

“E-mE -FC-F CECRE -To-F CECME

Prominent Alliance Limited  British Virgin Islands 28,000 26,000 28% 28%
(note a)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ XBRZEE
(Hiita)

Notes:

(a) Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”), a private
Company with limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset
management. As disclosed in note 4, the Group has not been in
a position to exercise any significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of Prominent Alliance. Accordingly,
investment in Prominent Alliance has been classified as financial
asset at FVTPL.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiZ—Z-_NF=HA=+—HItFE

17. AR FEFAERRZBARE (&)

AEBEMFHZEEZFRLETMRAEFES (M ALRE
BER-_E_NER-_ZE-_=F=A=+—H2Z10
T ARE (MM F19FTIHEE) ) ZsF BT :

Net assets

attributable to

At cost Fair value adjustment At fair value the investments

RHA AVERE ROTE REBILEERE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECCE ZRCPE CTC-F O Z®IWE CF--F ZRC@E SR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tz T Tz TExL Tz TiEn TEn TiEn
20,000 20,000 13,724 13,389 6,276 6,611 8,028 1412

Bt -

(a) Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent

Alliance | * —RFLABREELQE) REME AR
FTEREFBFXS BB FREELRREHEEE
R o AN REAFT B B - AN B I £ ¥ Prominent
Alliance T I R K E MR TREMEATE -
Itk » ® Prominent Alliance Z & E DA UATF
Bt NBERBEZHMBEE-
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,%,;'—: ’g‘ E\Zl' f[l% $ﬁ %% MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Details of principal listed equity securities held by the Group
as at 31 March 2024, which are also included in the list of the
10 largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2024, as
disclosed in note 19, are as follow:

Place/country Number of Percentage of

Name of investee company of incorporation  share held interest held
ERALBE/ igsd 53
ERENTER S fERGEE Bat
'000
T
Minerva Group Holding Limited (Formerly Bermuda 120,010 4.79%
known as Power Financial Group Limited)
(note b)

PEERRARAR (REATREEER BRE
RE) (Hith)

WLS Holdings Limited (nofe ¢ Bermuda 549,610 3.83%
ERZRRERAF (Mitc) BRE

China Jicheng Holdings Limited (nofe d) Cayman Islands 8,753 2.12%
PEERERERAA (HHd) )

Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (note e) Cayman Islands 23,910 0.52%
EEKERERRA (Hite) FEEE

SEEC Media Group Ltd. (note 1) Cayman Islands 17,621 2.39%
HHEBREEERAR (HiHf) HERS

AMCO United Holding Limited (nofe g Bermuda 46,569 4.81%

ERERERAR (Hifg) ARE

17. AR FEFAERRZBARE (&)

R-ZE-_NME=ZA=+—8 AEEFENEE
EFRAFER (MIIALEER-_Z-_MF=A
=+—HZ10EHAKE (NHF19FTHEE) ) &F
BT

Accumulated

unrealised Net assets/ Dividend
holding (liabilities) received/
gain (loss) attributable receivable
arising on to the during
Cost  revaluation MarketValue investment the year
EffREEZ
EEE 2] R&
BRER EhEE/  FABLR/
RA (E#8) wE  (BE)FE EURE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAL TAL TAL TAL

38,437 (22,836) 16,601 61,151 -
79,170 (65,979) 13,191 14,704 -
19,212 (11,335) 7877 5,588 -
5,212 1,243 6,455 16,338 -
8,400 (2,284) 5,903 4,337 -
23,79 (18,252) 5,542 2,951 -
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

A brief description of the business and financial information of the

listed investee companies, based on their latest published annual

report are as follows:

(b)

Minerva Group Holding Limited (Formerly known as Power
Financial Group Limited) (“Minerva Group”) incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on Stock Exchange (Stock code: 397).
Minerva Group is principally engaged in financial services,
asset management and investment and money lending. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Power Financial was HK$104,059,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK3.82 cents. As at 31
December 2023, its audited consolidated net assets attributable
to owners was HK$1,276,639,000.

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”) is incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8021).
engaged in the Provision of scaffolding, fitting out and

WLS is principally

other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work,
money lending business, securities investment business
and assets management business. For the year ended 30
April 2023, the audited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of WLS was HK$112,384,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HKO0.782 cents. As at 31 October 2023, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
HK$383,927,000.

China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“China Jicheng”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares have been listed in the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 1027). China
Jicheng is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale
of POE umbrellas, nylon umbrellas and umbrella parts such as
plastic cloth and shaft. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of China
Jicheng was RMB92,751,000 (equivalent to HK$102,592,000)
with basic and diluted loss per share of RMB22.48 cents
(equivalent to HK24.87 cents). As at 31 December 2023, its
audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
RMB239,598,000 (equivalent to HK$263,606,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H{=—& —

ME=ZA=+—HBLFE

17. AR FEFAERRZBARE (&)

Wiat:

RIBEHAERE LT ARBORTEZFR ZF QA
ZEBRBBEERBEET

BEEZERERAR (ABERSREEARAA])
([RER ] RERETMR I AERCERAR
HBRGORB R Em (RHARSE:397) cm&EEE
ENESHRE EETERREURBE-HZE
R =F+ A=+ —HLFE EHeRZ
WA AR EE %474 E18/7104,059,000% 7T -
BREAREEBHEIEAIS2EIL - R_T=_=F
TZA=t+—H HEEBARLKERGAEE
{8 51,276,639,0005% T °

ERZERARLAR (DEE])RFASES M
A BERERYREREFBEZARAR AR
B 22 BT GEM £ (BR 10 X 5% : 8021) © JEFE £
ENERBENBEETIRRREMELRE BEE

REMBENIRT  MEER BHREXBREE
EREK BE T _=FNA=+HILFEE-
EREEA AR EEZERE KR /112,384,000
B BRERNKEEERAB0782BWL -N_F
—=ZFF+A=Z+—H HEBABGREERE
A & E %18 /5383,927,000/ L

PEEKRERER AR (THEENK])RHASEH
SFAMALAEREER QA HRMHNE B
ERXRGHARAR LT (RHRIE:1027) - H H
SR ETENERERBEEPOERE - EERS
ERETHH mBmERPE-BHE_T ==
FZA=+—RUFE FEEKRZERTARNL
KEZGAKBEAARY2,751,0007T (HE R
102,592,000/ Jt ) -%%Ai&ﬁ&%&ﬂ%%/\ﬁ
#22.48% (HHEN24.878 1) R -_T - =4
+:ﬂ£+*E'E%ﬁA@E@%@ﬁa§E
FE A AR 239,598,000t (8% 1263,606,000
BT o
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (“Tibet Water”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares have been listed in the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 1115). Tibet Water is
principally engaged in the production and sales of premium
bottled mineral water products and beer products in the PRC.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of Tibet Water was RMB352,867,000
(equivalent to HK$390,306,000) with basic and diluted loss
per share of RMB8.97 cents (equivalent to HK9.92 cents).
As at 31 December 2023, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was RMB2,855,761,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,141,908,000).

SEEC Media Group Limited (“SEEC”) is incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with its shares listed on the Stock
Exchange. SEEC is principally engaged in the provision of
advertising agency services and distribution of books and
magazines in the People’s Republic of China, and securities
brokerage, money lending services and provision of e-commerce
platform services and sales of high tech products in Hong Kong.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of SEEC was HK$23,279,000 with
basic and diluted loss per share of HKO0.032 cents. As at 31
December 2023, its audited consolidated net assets attributable
to owners was HK$181,445,000.

AMCO United Holding Limited (“AMCQ”) was incorporated in
the Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares have been listed in the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (Stock Code: 630). AMCO is principally engaged
in sale of medical products; sale of plastic moulding products;
provision of money lending; and investment in securities. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of AMCO was HK$2,753,000 with basic
and diluted loss per share of HK0.30 cents. As at 31 December
2023, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners
was HK$61,361,000.

(e)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE

17. AR FEFAERRZBARE (&)

Wizt (&)

BEKERBRAR ([ARKER]) NHSHS
MR AEREERAR] ERONESH S
RHFABRAR Em (BRMHRE: 1115) o FiEK
BREZETERBLEERBERIKBEERK
EmkBEER BE T -_=F=A=+—H
IEFE - ARKERZHEEABRLEEZEEE
B A AR ¥352,867,0007T (H % #390,306,000
Br) BREARBEEEERAARESITH (M
ER9.9281MW) AT -_=F+-_A=+—
A EBAABERERGEEEFEARARE
2,855,761,0007T, (8 E 7#3,141,908,000/ 7T ) °

HHEEEBRAERAA ([Fl)NHESESE
MK AR RNEREFBEZARA A
HBRORBZ Em - MAEEXBREPEA
REMBRHUEBERERE LD HES L
UNREEBREFFELER REXBREHE
BEFEBTAaREURFEERNRER BHEZ
T_=F+ A=+ BALFE HABEAEARE
IH 4 E iz bR A B 18 523,279,0008 L B R E K
R EEEAR0.032BW- N ==F+=A8
—t—H HEAABREKERGEEETEA
181,445,000/5 JC

ERERAERAR ([ERER]) R EFEFMK
VRERRARAR ERMNEBHEZHH
BRARET (RHRIE:630) - ERIERESH
EHEBEED  HELBEAER REKRE:
REABE BE-_E-_=#+=-RA=+—81t
FE ERERZEBABRLEEZGEAERA
2,753,000/ 7T * B AR E AR R #E 518 50.30/8 1L
RZEZ=F+-A=Z+—B HEBARGEL
Eizir e AEFE /61,361,000 7T ©
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18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. REBERATFTEZBEHERE
AMORTISED COST
2024 2023
—E-E —Eo=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Unlisted debts securities (note) ELETMEBES (M) 51,440 32,000
Interest receivables & UL F B 3,028 1,866
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (9,651) (5,919)
44,817 27,947
Analysed as: TR
Current mE 11,972 10,724
Non-current EMED 32,845 17,223
44,817 27,947
Note: Bt iz
As at 31 March 2024, the unlisted debts securities represented RZZEZWF=A=+—H0 FLEMEKESFEIFH
unlisted bonds with principal amount of HK$18,000,000 (2023: nil), AR LETRAAN—HNBARSBBEEERAF([€
HK$20,000,000 (2023: HK$20,000,000) and HK$12,000,000 (2023: Bl BELTRASEXIERBER AR ([#53]) R4
HK$12,000,000) issued by Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold H==EHEEERQA ([FR=Z=ZFF])FHTHR
Medal”), a subsidiary of listed company in Hong Kong, Hao Wen & % /18,000,000 7L (=T = =4 : %) + 20,000,000
Holdings Limited (“Hao Wen”) and China 33 Media Group Limited 7T (ZF = =4 :20,000,0007% 7T ) 212,000,000 7T
(“China 33 Media”) respectively, both of the companies listed in Hong (ZZ==%:12,000,000/8 L) ZIE LT EH -
Kong.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the unlisted bonds with HE-Z-_MNMF=A=1+—HLFE BERESHH
principal amount of HK$18,000,000 issued by Gold Medal was fully 1TH) 7N € 51 /218,000,000 TR FE EMEH AEEF -
subscribed, which are unsecured, carried interest at 8% per annum FRRSER2FERIEM SR EBUREMEES-

and matured in 2 years. Gold Medal is principally engaged in the
money lending service.
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18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. HMBERAFECBEBRE (&)

AMORTISED COST (continued)

Note: (continued)

Unlisted bonds with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 issued by
Hao Wen, which are unsecured, carried interest at 5.5% per annum
and matured in 5 years. Hao Wen is principally engaged in the money
lending, processing and trading of electronic parts, provision of beauty
treatment Services and sale of burial plots and related services and
cemetery maintenance service.

Unlisted bonds issued by China 33 Media are unsecured, carried
interest at 12% per annum and matured in 3 years. China 33 Media
principally engaged in the provision of outdoor and digital advertising
services, film and entertainment investment, prepaid card business
and provision of printed media advertising services.

The movements in the loss allowance for credit losses of debt
investments measured at amortised cost are as follows:

B (&)

i ST 21T N4 38520,000,000/8 TR IE E T B 5 A &
IR FRE55E RSFREM BN EERENE F
FEHHEMIRES REEDEERBEUREEER
Ko KA AR 745 Ko B oth 4 v AR 7S o

PR ==EEAETHELTESAERA FRX12
ER3FRER - TE=Z=ZERETEUEREHPINEE
FTEERY EXRRERE HANREBRERTE
HEEE SRS -

RBEAAGEBZABREAZEEBRZ BEE
EEBHIMT

2024 2023

—EBE-WEF —EC=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period Rk s B9 5,919 7,232
Impairment losses, net A E R R 3,732 (1,313)
At the end of the reporting period Rk &R 9,651 5,919

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

The above investment in the bonds issued by Gold Medal,
Hao Wen and China 33 Media are included in the list of 10
largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2024, as
disclosed in note 19.

BB RS R BB 5E6 o

AN 1O E - EXRER X R P E
CCERETZESFREFATEER T
THFE=ZRA=t—HZTRKRERE-
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 19. XEEFFETEREZHE

HELD BY THE GROUP

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12 of
the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all investments
with a value greater than 5 per cent of the Group’s gross

B EHHRBE2112B 288 F  REBBEERN -
ENFRE=FZA=F+—HEABASRA
EEEERESR 2FTARE K& D10EREKE

assets and at least 10 largest investments as at 31 March BFBEET:
2024 and 2023 are as follows:
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_NME=R=+—H
Dividend/
Interest
As at investee companies Cost Fair value received
2 WE
BREARA R A AVE RE/FIE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FTExT THER
Equity investments: RARE:
Minerva Group Holding Limited (Formerly REEZRAERDA (ABERSREEEAR

known as Power Financial Group Limited) RaEl) (#iE17())

(note 17(b)) 38,437 15,601 -
WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(c)) EREERBRAR (Hi217(c)) 79,170 13,191 =
China Jicheng Holdings Limited (note 17(d)) HESKIERER AR (AiE17(d) 19,213 7,877 —
Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (note 17(e)) FEKERERAR (Mit17(e)) 5,212 6,456 =
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(a)) Prominent Alliance Limited (#/7#17(a)) 20,000 6,276 -
SEEC Media Group Ltd. (note 17(f) MEEEEERAR (ME17(0) 8,400 5,903 -
AMCO United Holding Limited (note 17(g)) ERERARAR (Hi117(g)) 23,794 5,542 =
Debt investments: BEHRRE:

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18) iR AR AR (f15118) 20,871 17,173 1,100
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18) FR==EEEEARRAE (H:118) 14,550 11,972 =
Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (note 18) SREBEBBERAR (H1iE18) 19,047 15,672 =
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS

20.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE

HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)

As at 31 March 2023

19. X KBFRHFETEREZHE (&)

R=ZB=Z=%=HF=+-—H

Dividend/
Interest
As at investee companies Cost Fair value received
2R
BIREAT B AR »FE ik 8/ Fl&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTHET FHET
Equity investments: BRARE:
WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(c)) ERZERER AT (HaE17(c)) 78,840 35,251 -
Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(d)) BESREERRAR (Mit17(d)) 38,437 19,082 -
Asia Grocery Distribution Limited TNEBEEZRERAA 9,465 3,912 -
SunCorp Technologies Limited MR AR A A 43,746 5,019 -
Kingland Group Holdings Limited RMEEERARQA 6,776 4,835 -
SEEC Media Group Limited (note 17(f)) MAEEEEARRA (MF17(1)) 5,055 3,949 -
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(a)) Prominent Alliance Limited (#/:%17(a)) 20,000 6,611 -
Milan Station Holdings Limited KRB UWIERAR AR 9,146 4,831 -
Debt investments: BERE:
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18) #EERAR AR (A1518) 20,870 17,223 -
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18) FER==EEEEARRE (H:18) 12,995 10,724 -
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HthEWRIE - BERARERERSE
DEPOSITS
2024 2023
—E-mF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Other receivables H A e W R IE 5,829 9,763
Deposits paid BEffike 25 24
Financial assets HigEE 5,854 9,787
Prepayments A RE 32 19

5,886 9,806
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HttEWRE EAAREREZRS ()
DEPOSITS (continued)
The Group recognised loss allowance for other receivables as LA 72 75 52 [t L fth I WS SR IE e 3R 2 IS T R 4
follows:
2024 2023
—ZET-IF T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Other receivables H b fE W FRIE 20,026 24,964
Loss allowance E BB (14,197) (15,201)
Net impairment losses on other Hth R IR IE 2 R BB B F 5
receivables 5,829 9,763
The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of other HtERRBE 2 BREEBECEBEREZ ST
receivables are as follows: T~
2024 2023
—E-NF —ECZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
At the beginning of the reporting period & H ) 15,201 12,718
Impairment losses, net EBEFRE (1,004) 2,483
At the end of the reporting period KR4 B R 14,197 15,201

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6. AR PG E A M6 o
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20.

21.

22.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

The above impairment losses have been separately disclosed
as “impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal”in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

At the end of the reporting period, the receivable of
approximately HK$5,829,000 (2023: HK$9,763,000)
represents the consideration receivable arising from the
disposal of the unlisted equity investments through disposal
of subsidiaries in prior years. The amounts are unsecured,
carried interest at 5.875% and repayable within one year.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H#EZ —Z-NF=fF=+—HILtFE

HiEWRE BARERES (#)
LHREBEERGABEREBEEA A
EEBEEXNTHRAERE (LMERER)] -

RERE IR B FRIE 4 55,829,000 T (=&
T =4%:9,763,0008 L) rEF BN BAETFED
EWBARMEEIE LLMBEAEEEES Z BIKR
B ZERIERMEEM LA E5875F B KA
R—FRNEE-

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BERBASEEY
2024 2023
—EC_NE —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Cash and bank balances ﬁ(ﬂ?&fﬁﬁﬁir 5,066 24,655
Deposits at other financial institutions REM e REE 2 773K 2,046 2,930
7,112 27,585
During the reporting period, no cash and cash equivalents REEHE HERe KA EEBYNEHAEE
were denominated in a currency other than the functional ERZEEBUIINCEEEE-
currency of the relevant group entity.
The effective interest rate of the deposits ranges from 0.01% FERZEBREFENF0.01EZE0.88FE (=
to 0.88% (2023: 0.01% to 0.75%) per annum and all of them Z=F:0.01EZE0.75E) FTAEFZRVBERE
have a maturity within three months from initial inception. B9 =& A AR E o
AMOUNT DUE TO BROKERS 22, ERERIE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has margin payables of
HK$5,308,000 (2023: HK$5,017,000) represents margin
loans arising from the trading of listed investments which are
repayable on demand and pledged with listed investment, the
remaining balance represent amount due to a broker which
repayable on demand and unsecured. No ageing analysis
is disclosed in respect of amount due to brokers. In opinion
of the directors, an ageing analysis does not give additional
value in view of the Group’s business nature.

Amount due to brokers bear interest rates ranged from 8% to
9.63% (2023: 8% to 9.13%) per annum for the year ended 31
March 2024.

RZFEZWMF=RA=+—H AEENEMRE
5,308,000/ 7T (=& — =4 :5,017,000/& 7T)
ABEBELIMRESIBZREBFCER BEHRES
,ﬁkﬁ,ﬁgaﬂgaluﬁm&éﬁfﬁf&ﬁ i &k T

HHRIEEMNCLRE HEREREERAEIR
ﬁoﬂréﬂwrﬂﬂﬁﬁawﬁ%&a@ﬁﬁﬂﬁoﬁ%%@
B RESMTEASEERMEEM S T MNE
HMEE -

ENEEREREE S -_NE=ZA=+—81
FEZFENENFEEEIGIE(-_T-_=4F:8
[EZE9.13E) o
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23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. B
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.001
each
BREE
0.001& T 2
ZEREAE
‘000 HK$’000
T & FET
Authorised: JEJE
At 1 April 2022, at 31 March 2023 and R-ZE-_—_FWm™A—AH-
31 March 2024 —E-=f=A=1+-8Ak
—E-_NME=A=+—H 1,200,000,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRHE -
At 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-—_FPEPA—H 325,097 325
Exercise of share options 1T A 22,500 23
Issue of shares under placement (note a)  RIEEE21TD (Aita) 65,000 65
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and R-E-_=f=HA=+—H"
31 March 2024 “E=FMA-HBHR
—E-NME=A=+—H 412,597 413
(a) The Company issued and allot 65,000,000 placing shares of (@) ARFEFBRREFHBRAAL026E T ZE
HK$0.001 each in the Company with China Prospect Securities 1% 5% 17 )2 i 8 7N 2 7165,000,0000% & %0.0015% 7T
Limited at a price of HK$0.26. The net proceeds from the ZHRERN RBFHZEREFESRAER
subscription would be used for the general working capital of SEZ—BEEBEES URBBEAQRAZIRER
the Group and for future investments pursuant to the investment ERERREE BRERGERZT=Z_F1A
objectives of the Company. The placing of shares has been A HFEK -
completed on 5 September 2022.
All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with each FEERETROBURAMBTEZERSHA -

other.
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 24. B AETHE

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 29 August
2013 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to outside third parties for settlement in respect of
goods or services provided to the Company.

As at 31 March 2024, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 59,300,000 (2023: 59,300,000),
representing approximately 14.37% (2023: 14.37%) of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 20% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors, and
will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

ARrEERESE ([ZAEDIRER ZF
—ZFNAZTABBBZRERTURS =
ZEAMDMEZERAEREBRIUE - RIEZ
AHECARFEFEENRAERER (BEARQ
AREMBARER) R TARBALBKN
R - UE N AR B A A RINRE =T E
B UWHEBRETARANEYH R -

RZZEZMF=A=+—H ZFaETHER
R TERARITEERENS RE RO EE
#59,300,0000% ( —ZE — = 4 : 59,300,000/% ) -
HERARRERADEHTRMN Z414.37% (=
T =% :14.37%) A BIETARLE 2B R
TEFTH R 2 B HR B R IE AR A IR R e it
Al REAE RS A S HBARQ R D ETRMD
20% - REM—FEEFRAIRFEMER AL
ZRBRBEMARIEBRTRETRTROHME L
REAATBEEZLERN  NERNFBHTSE
FIBADR D BEITIRN Z1%

BREANRKRHBRE21IBN N0 BRE
1B TTIM T LA A - i B i AT 200X L R A B
EERHANE _EABF I HEBERITE1TE
BERHEEFSET BIEERTIZESE ()
B R L BB W E (i) BRI RERRE A
Hg A A %A 2 FHWRHE: Ki)Rkizm
@
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of options granted to directors and employees on

12 August 2022 are as follows:

Date of grant
Vesting period
Exercise period
Exercise price

12 August 2022
Immediate

3 years from the date of grant

HK$0.317

The following table discloses movement of the Company’s

2023/24 Annual Report
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—E-ME=A=+—AILEE

24. B EERTE (M)

N-ZE—-—

BT

EH B8
5 8 1
1T H]
T8

TEREBEARRSRE MR BRE

— = — —

=

£ %

FAAT-HETEEREBEZBR

FNA+=AH

B A

BREHSR=F

0.3178 T

44

share option granted and lapsed:
Number of
Number options held
Number Number  of options as at
Number of  of options  of options  cancelled/ 31 March
options held granted exercised lapsed 2023 and
Exercise asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March
Category Date of Grant Price Option Period 1 April 2022 Year Year Year 2024
R=BZZf
=ZA=+-H
RZ-B-Z% k-E-m%
mA-A ERg#,/ =ZA=t-H
fis ERRitiz FRTEZ 582 igs:
=¥ REBH T BRENS BhERE BREZE BREHE BREBE BRERE
Directors
Bz
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee 7 August 2020 HK$0.316 Three years from date of grant 2,250,000 - (2,250,000) - -
RE&ETE “Z-2E\AtE 0316 HiEHEd=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421 Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
ZEZ-FNAt+-B 0421BT RHUAHRHZE
12 August 2022 HK$0.317 Three years from date of grant - 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000
ZEZZFNATZH  03M7TAT RUAHRHZE
Mr. FONG On Shek 7 August 2020 HK$0.316 Three years from date of grant 2,250,000 - (2,250,000) - -
ARARE 225 /\AtH 03168 HMBEHEA=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421 Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
ZEZ-FNAT-B  0420BT BEHRASRNCE
12 August 2022 HK$0.317 Three years from date of grant - 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000
ZZZZENATZRE 0MTERT BRERSEHZF
Employees 7 August 2020 HK$0.316 Three years from date of grant 18,000,000 - (18,000,000) - -
&8 ZTZT§N\AtA 03161 HLAHRH=F
11 August 2021 HK$0.421 Three years from date of grant 20,300,000 - - - 20,300,000
ZTZ-fN\At-B 042ET BLAHRHZF
12 August 2022 HK$0.317 Three years from date of grant - 26,000,000 - - 26,000,000
“E-ZFNATZB 03MTHT REABBHCE
Total
&t 49,300,000 32,500,000  (22,500,000) - 59,300,000
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24,

25.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share options were exercised during the years ended
31 March 2024 (2023: 22,500,000). Accordingly, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise presented was
HK$Nil (2023: HK$0.33).

The fair value of share options granted on 12 August 2022
was calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model. The

inputs into the model were as follows:

12 August 2022

Fair value HK$0.1445-HK$0.1362
Share price HK$0.2700
Exercise price HK$0.317
Expected volatility 106%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free rate 2.644%
Expected dividend yield Nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 3
years at the grant date. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimate, for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised a total expense of HK$Nil (2023:
HK$4,481,000) for the year ended 31 March 2024 in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$158,862,000 (2023:
HK$196,631,000) by the number of shares in issue as at 31
March 2024, being 412,597,000 (2023: 412,597,000).

24,

25.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 H#EZ —Z-NF=fF=+—HILtFE

BRESTE (&)
REBEE-_ZT-_NEF=-ZA=T—HLFEIEER
ETE (T = =4 :22,500,00017) A I

EIRITEBZMEFHREAS
Z=%:0.3387T) °

BL(ZE

R-F-_—_F N \AT-_BROBZEERERTFET

FH_EAPErERFE ZEAFEFRAZEH
ABEWNT
—E-—H#NA+-H
NFE 0.1445-0.1362/% 7T
A& & 0.27005 7T
IE(E 03178 T
T8 HA R 1R 106%
78 Hi 7 5 =%
& B ) 2.644%
TEHARR B & i3
REEBENBEFEDEBERARNRARRNBE

—FRERELRBERE - ZEAMAEREH
ERESFZHEMRHEHFERE ARRTATE R
M TERGINRTREESFHEE -

REBRBE_T_NF=A=+—HILFER
AAREHZBEREERAI GBI EL(ZF
T =% :4,481,00087T) °

BREEFE
BREEFEDBEEVBERAIRANME 2
B EFE#H158,862,00008 T (—Z & - =
196,631,000 L) U Z T —_mMF = =+ —
HE 2T D& E412,597,0000% ( —ZF — =4 :
412,597,0008% ) 415 H
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BEALRS

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
had entered into the following transactions with the investment

manager of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors,

were carried out on normal commercial terms and in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business:

BHE_ T NER T =F=A=+—HILF
B AREERAEERELETLNATRS &
FRR WMERGINRAERAEERBRETIK
LR EGTUETT

2024 2023
—ZT-ImF —T=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FET
Investment manager’s fee: BELEER:
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) BRESH (BEB)BRAT
Limited 720 720
Total HEt 720 720
Note: MEt -

The Company entered into a investment management agreement
with Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment
Manager”) effective on 8 December 2020.

The Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee of
HK$60,000 and payable monthly in advance.

The Investment Manager shall be deemed as a connected person of
the Company pursuant to Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules upon the
agreement becoming effective. The transactions are considered a de
minimis transactions under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company considered
that the above investment management agreement is in the
best interests of the Company and were entered into on normal
commercial terms, in the ordinary course of business of the Company
and that investment management fee are calculated in accordance
with the above agreements and are fair and reasonable so far as the
shareholders of the Company are concerned.

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors of the Company and certain of the highest paid
employees are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 27. RRER &

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the Group (the
employer) and its employees makes monthly contributions
to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
The contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per
month since 1 June 2015 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2024 amounted to HK$19,000 (2023:
HK$29,000), representing contributions payable to the
Scheme by the Group in respect of the year ended 31 March
2024.

REBERE CapERERTEEG) AMEE
BEEREESMERBHEI AT MELE S S
([5H8]) FrEEEMEAEBEESRF AL
TREFDABEZES -BREE - A%EH (BX)
HEEBAHCKREEBRA(EER GaslHtR
B BRI ) 25% HEHEI/EH ko B £ 6
BESAZHEFRE-ZE—RAFAA—HBHEEZMU
1,500 L AR ZHoHRBARHR TEE
V2 U A SR AT FR R 0 OR 7 12 G S R R -

HEZZ-_WNF=-A=-+—HLEFERGZLER
K HAth 2 W as R B 2 48 #£5819,000%8 7T (=
T =F:29,0008 L) REAEHEHREEZ =T
ZWNFE=A=+—BIEFEER SIS 2 5K
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28. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 28. RRBETEWBLARAZFHE
OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 and 2023 REZEZNER-ZE_=F=A=1+—HZ2FxZ

are as follows:

Place of

Particulars of
issued share

MEBARFEHINMT:

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights

Name of subsidiary incorporation capital held by the Group Principal activities
rEERBERZ
W D R & o AR R 3 3t B BRITRAFE FrBERERRREL A TEER
2024 2023
—E_mOE -—T-=F
Directly hold:
BEEESH:
Garron Consultancy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1
SREMARAT BB TERIET 100% 100% #EHEE
New Express Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1 & investment
holding
MBRERE AT BB BRI 100% 100% #HEELMKREEK
Jetland Global Investments Ltd British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment
Islands US$1 each holding
REBRUEE il 100% 100% HEZER
BREE1ET
Baiye Holdings Limited British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Islands US$1 each
REBRUEE gk 100% 100% HEZER
BREBEIET

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

ERAMARBAMB AR NEERREATZER
FREEEIBRASEEEFEZIERN &
ERR HIEMMBARFEEBR TR

NSRS FEREAER RENBARES
EARREEZEBES -



166 China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E R B OE &£ B B R 44 FA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,%,;'—: ’g‘ E\Zt' f[l% $ﬁ %% MTJ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-_NE=HA=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 29. XRTFzHBER

2024 2023
—E-mEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE 1 1
1 1
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, prepayments Ha W RIE AN RERES
and deposits 3,325 3,863
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE s /&8 1 R kOB 157,919 190,453
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 1,111 2,231
162,355 196,547
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals BB A 3,160 2,800
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTHI B R Rl Fk A 1,381 1,385
4,541 4,185
Net current assets RBEEFEE 157,814 192,362
Net assets EEFE 157,815 192,363
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital [N 413 413
Reserves (Note) (M) 157,402 191,950
Total equity ERsm 157,815 192,363

Signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee

RATIHALRERE:

FONG On Shek

RE= FRA
Director Director
- BF
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29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

29. XARF 2 HBHBER (F)

Note: MiEt -
Movement in reserves during the year FANRECEZY
Capital Share
Share reduction option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
;&
B 15 55 (B HURfHE BRERE 25 ER @t
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET FET
As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE--FMA—H 937,046 112,657 7,853 (855,740) 201,816
Loss and total comprehensive expense N4 [Z & 18 & 2 S 4458
for the year - - - (37,846) (37,846)
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEEREREITRG
share options 9,706 - (2,619) - 7,087
Issue of new shares under placing RIRR S BITHR D 16,412 - - - 16,412
Grant of share options BB AR A - - 4,481 - 4,481
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-Z-_=F=A=+—H
E—ZE-=FMA—A 963,164 112,657 9,715 (893,586) 191,950
Loss and total comprehensive expense N4 [Z & 18 & 2 M & 4458
for the year - - - (34,548) (34,548)

As at 31 March 2024

R-ZE-_NE=HA=+—AH

963,164 112,657 9,715 (928,134) 157,402
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Year ended 31 March

BE=-A=+-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —T-=—F —FT-— —E-—fF —T-THF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FTET FHET FATL FHET FHET
RESULTS EF+
Revenue Y28 5,318 3,592 4,478 4,521 2,930
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT (B1B) EF (37,769) (41,152) (7,018) 3,569 (127,108)
Income tax credit FEHIER - - - - 732
(Loss)/profit attributable to EN/NGIEZ 2SN
owners of the Company FE(E (B1B) /% F (37,769) (41,152) (7,018) 3,569 (126,376)
(Loss)/earnings per share S (EE) /&BF
— Basic (HK cents) — A (F) (9.15) (10.92) (2.27) 1.43 (5.60)
At 31 March
R=ZB=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —T-=fF —E-- ZTZ—F ZTZETH
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHEL FAT FAEL FAEL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets ERBEE 39,121 23,834 25,261 49,504 50,411
Current assets mEEE 129,166 180,661 200,457 153,752 141,580
Current liabilities mEgfE (9,425) (7,864) (16,003) (7,750) (9,345)
Non-current liabilities E KT} - - - - -
Total equity e 158,862 196,631 209,715 195,506 182,646
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